
 
 
 

 

MEETING OF THE 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 

Special Meeting 
 

Monday, August 19, 2019 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Greenbridge - The Wiley Center 
Joe Thomas Community Room 
9800 8th Avenue SW, Suite 104 

Seattle, WA 98106 
 
 
 



 

SPECIAL MEETING OF THE  
BOARD OF COMMISIONERS 

AGENDA 
 

August 19, 2019 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Greenbridge 
The Wiley Center 

Joe Thomas Community Room 
9800 8th Avenue SW, Suite 104 

Seattle, WA 98106 
 

 

I. Call to Order 
 

II. Roll Call 
 

III. Welcome & Tour of Greenbridge      
 

IV. Public Comment      
 

V. Approval of Minutes       
 
A. Board Meeting Minutes – June 10, 2019     1 
 

VI. Approval of Agenda 
 

VII. Consent Agenda                                                2 
 

A. Voucher Certification Report for May 2019 
 

B. Voucher Certification Report for June 2019 
 

C. Resolution No. 5626 – A resolution of the Housing Authority 
authorizing the submission of funding applications to finance a 

The special meeting of the Board of Commissioners to be held on 
Monday, August 19, 2019 at 8:30am, will begin with a tour of Greenbridge 
(White Center). Following the tour, the special meeting will take place at 
Greenbridge at the Wiley Center in the Joe Thomas Community Room. 

https://www.google.com/maps/place/9800+8th+Ave+SW,+Seattle,+WA+98106/@47.5153648,-122.3451464,19z/data=!4m13!1m7!3m6!1s0x549043dbb712ad95:0x75555ed56e01608a!2s9800+8th+Ave+SW,+Seattle,+WA+98106!3b1!8m2!3d47.5153168!4d-122.3446019!3m4!1s0x549043dbb712ad95:0x75555ed56e01608a!8m2!3d47.5153168!4d-122.3446019
https://www.google.com/maps/place/9800+8th+Ave+SW,+Seattle,+WA+98106/@47.5153648,-122.3451464,19z/data=!4m13!1m7!3m6!1s0x549043dbb712ad95:0x75555ed56e01608a!2s9800+8th+Ave+SW,+Seattle,+WA+98106!3b1!8m2!3d47.5153168!4d-122.3446019!3m4!1s0x549043dbb712ad95:0x75555ed56e01608a!8m2!3d47.5153168!4d-122.3446019
https://www.google.com/maps/place/9800+8th+Ave+SW,+Seattle,+WA+98106/@47.5153648,-122.3451464,19z/data=!4m13!1m7!3m6!1s0x549043dbb712ad95:0x75555ed56e01608a!2s9800+8th+Ave+SW,+Seattle,+WA+98106!3b1!8m2!3d47.5153168!4d-122.3446019!3m4!1s0x549043dbb712ad95:0x75555ed56e01608a!8m2!3d47.5153168!4d-122.3446019
https://www.google.com/maps/place/9800+8th+Ave+SW,+Seattle,+WA+98106/@47.5153648,-122.3451464,19z/data=!4m13!1m7!3m6!1s0x549043dbb712ad95:0x75555ed56e01608a!2s9800+8th+Ave+SW,+Seattle,+WA+98106!3b1!8m2!3d47.5153168!4d-122.3446019!3m4!1s0x549043dbb712ad95:0x75555ed56e01608a!8m2!3d47.5153168!4d-122.3446019
https://www.google.com/maps/place/9800+8th+Ave+SW,+Seattle,+WA+98106/@47.5153648,-122.3451464,19z/data=!4m13!1m7!3m6!1s0x549043dbb712ad95:0x75555ed56e01608a!2s9800+8th+Ave+SW,+Seattle,+WA+98106!3b1!8m2!3d47.5153168!4d-122.3446019!3m4!1s0x549043dbb712ad95:0x75555ed56e01608a!8m2!3d47.5153168!4d-122.3446019


portion of the expansion of Rainer View Mobile Home Park, the 
acquisition and rehabilitation of Abbey Ridge and the acquisitions  
of Kirkland Heights and Juanita View. 

 

VIII. Resolution for Discussion and Possible Action    
 

A. Resolution No. 5627 - A resolution providing for the issuance  3 
of the Authority’s Non-Revolving Line of Credit Revenue Note,  
2019 (Emerson Apartments) in the principal amount of not to  
exceed $66,000,000 to finance the acquisition of the Emerson 
Apartments in Kirkland, Washington, and determining related 
matters.  
 

B. Resolution No. 5628 – A resolution providing for the                4 
issuance of the Authority’s Note, 2019 (Highland Village Project),  
in a principal amount not to exceed $2,500,000, the proceeds of 
which will be used to make a loan to Somerset Gardens Apartments 
LLLP to finance the construction and rehabilitation of Highland 
Village in Bellevue, Washington, and determining related matters. 

 
IX. Briefings & Reports 

 
A. 2019 Mid-Year Financial Forecast             5 

  
B. Second Quarter 2019 Summary Write-Off Report      6 

 

C. New Bank Accounts                                         7 
 

X. Study Session 
 
A. Working Discussion on Greenbridge                          8 
 

XI. Executive Director Report 
 

XII. KCHA in the News         9 
   

XIII. Commissioner Comments 
 

XIV. Adjournment 
 
 
 
 
Members of the public who are disabled and require special accommodations or assistance at 

the meeting are requested to notify the Board Coordinator in writing at 600 Andover Park 

West, Seattle, WA 98188 or by calling 206-574-1206 prior to the meeting date. 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
1 



 
MEETING MINUTES 

 OF THE 
KING COUNTY HOUSING AUTHORITY 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
SPECIAL MEETING 

 
Monday, June 10, 2019 

 
I.  CALL TO ORDER 
 

The meeting of the King County Housing Authority Board of Commissioners was held on 
Monday, June 10, 2019 at 700 Andover Park West, Tukwila, WA 98188. There being a 
quorum, the meeting was called to order by Chair Doug Barnes at 8:30 a.m. 

 
 
II. ROLL CALL  
 
 Present: Commissioner Doug Barnes (Chair), Commissioner Susan Palmer (Vice-

Chair), Commissioner Michael Brown, Commissioner John Welch and 
Commissioner TerryLynn Stewart. 

 
 
III. Public Comment 

 
Resident Cindy Ference gave public comment via telephone regarding resident concerns. 

 
 
IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
  

A. Board Meeting Minutes – May 20, 2019 
 
On motion by Commissioner Susan Palmer and seconded by Commissioner TerryLynn 
Stewart, the Board unanimously approved the May 20, 2019 Board of Commissioners’ 
Meeting Minutes. 

 
 
V. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 

On motion by Commissioner John Welch and seconded by Commissioner Michael 
Brown, the Board unanimously approved the June 10, 2019 Board of Commissioners’ 
meeting agenda. 

 
 

VI.  CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A. Voucher Certification Report for April 2019 
 

On motion by Commissioner John Welch and seconded by Commissioner Michael 
Brown, the Board unanimously approved the consent agenda. 
 
 
 



KCHA Board of Commissioners’ 
June 10, 2019 

Meeting Minutes 
Page 2 of 6 

 

 

VII.  RESOLUTONS FOR DISCUSSION & POSSIBLE ACTION 
 

A. Resolution No. 5625: Authorizing Acquisition of the Emerson Apartments.  

Tim Walter, Senior Director of Development and Asset Management gave an 
overview of the purchase of Emerson Apartments.  

 
The Emerson Apartments are located in the Totem Lake area in Kirkland. This 
complex was built in 1983 with 207 units and are comprised of two and three story 
buildings. There are one, two and three bedroom units including 70% that are two 
bedroom or larger and 10% that are three bedroom units.  

 
Emerson Apartments has excellent access to public transportation. Metro route 255  
from the entrance, will take you to UW or downtown Seattle. 

 
The property meets the board’s acquisition goal of being proximate to transit and 
located in a high opportunity area. Emerson Apartments are in the Lake Washington 
School District. 
 
KCHA has not completed due diligence yet. We will start the week of June 17th and  
have 30 days to complete. 

   
 Questions of Commissioners’ were answered. 

 
 On motion by Commissioner TerryLynn Stewart and seconded by Commissioner Susan  
 Palmer, the Board unanimously approved Resolution No. 5625. 

 
 
VIII. BRIEFINGS AND REPORTS  
 

A. First Quarter Financial Report 2019 
 

Windy Epps, Assistant Director of Finance gave an overview of the First Quarter 
Financial Report for 2019.  
 
First quarter financial results tracked well against budget projections. Operating 
Revenue was on target at 100.03% of budget, while operating expenses were 6.6% 
under budget.  
 
The Public Housing Operating Fund interim proration level for June has increased to 
97.26% and is expected to rise to 99% for the year which will be retroactively applied 
to the funding. 
 
The Housing Choice Voucher 2019 Renewal Funding Inflation Factor (RFIF) was 
awarded at 2.173% with a prorate of 99.5%. 
 



KCHA Board of Commissioners’ 
June 10, 2019 

Meeting Minutes 
Page 3 of 6 

 

 

Questions of Commissioners’ were answered. 
 
B. Annual Sustainability Plan 

Jenna Smith, Resource Conservation Manager introduced the conservation resource 
team: Scott Percival, Management Analyst/Sustainability Management Analyst and 
Patrick Malloy, Resource Conservation Specialist.  
 
The Sustainability Plan includes 7 sustainability goals focused on maintenance and 
management. The plan initiatives fall into the following three areas.    
 

1)     Capital improvements 
2)    Maintenance and management 
3)    Resident Engagement 

 

 

KCHA generated $11K from solar, and received $12K in solar rebates from the state 
in 2018, with a total of $134k for the past 4 years.  Avoided cost savings since 2017 
for water, sewer, electricity and gas was over $300k. Overall, we had a great year.  

 
Questions of Commissioners’ were answered. 
 
 

 

 
 



KCHA Board of Commissioners’ 
June 10, 2019 

Meeting Minutes 
Page 4 of 6 

 

 

C. Payment Standards 
 
Andrew Calkins, Manager of Policy and Legislative Affairs and Jeb Best, Director of 
Housing Choice Vouchers presented the Mid-Year Payment Standards Review. 
 
A payment standard is the maximum amount that KCHA will subsidize a given unit. 
These are typically set at the 40 percentile of the rental market, so that 40% of the 
units in a given area are affordable. They vary by bedroom size and geography.  
 
KCHA supports over 10,000 vouchers across the county through the tenant-based 
Housing Choice Voucher Program (HCV or Section 8). The payment standard is a 
critical component of the HCV program that ensures households can secure and 
maintain safe and affordable housing in different regions of the county. After 
transitioning to multi-tiered payment standards in 2016, KCHA has increased 
payment standards substantially to keep pace with an increasingly costly rental 
market, most recently in December 2018. KCHA began reviewing payment standards 
on a biannual basis beginning in 2018 following exceptional increases in rents around 
the county and input from program staff. Due to slowing growth in the rental market, 
staff is recommending that we do not change the current payment standards at this 
time. Staff will continue to closely monitor trends in preparation for the annual 
analysis planned for the end of 2019.  
 
Questions of Commissioners’ were answered. 

 
 

IX.       STUDY SESSION 
 

A. 2018 Resident Characteristics Report  
 
Sarah Oppenheimer, Director of Research and Evaluation introduced the report and 
David Forte, Program Manager, Measurement, Learning, & Evaluation presented the 
details. 
 
The Resident Characteristics Analysis (RCA) is an annual data analysis on the  
characteristics and outcomes of federally subsidized households living within the KCHA  
geographic boundaries in the calendar year. It provides a data-informed view of who 
KCHA serves and how that population may be changing in order to support program 
and policy decisions. Metrics calculated through the RCA also serve as the foundation 
for reporting to federal and other key stakeholders.  Included in the RCA are all 
federally subsidized households residing with the KCHA geographic jurisdiction except 
for a subset of households (201) served through locally designed, non-traditional 
programs; non-federal workforce housing residents are also not included in the RCA.  

 
 Questions of Commissioners’ were answered. 

 
 



KCHA Board of Commissioners’ 
June 10, 2019 

Meeting Minutes 
Page 5 of 6 

 

 

X.  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT   
  

There is little to report from Washington DC. The full House passed the T-HUD 

Appropriations Bill as drafted by the Appropriations Committee but there has been no 

visible progress, despite several meetings at the leadership level, on the larger issues 

regarding the debt ceiling, sequestration and top line budget numbers.  

Progress on key issues is not likely to happen anytime soon. Congress is heading into 
summer recess shortly and little time remains to cut a deal.  

 
We are watching all of this very closely and tracking the language in the final bill does a 
number of things:   
 
1) Preserves our Moving to Work (MTW) contract and prevents the Secretary from 

acquiring discretionary ability to sweep our MTW working capital.  
2) Blocks HUD’s proposal to unilaterally convert the annual contributions contract from 

a contract to a grant.  
3) Prevents HUD from using any appropriated funds to administer a proposed rule that 

would bar mixed status families from participating in the Public Housing and Section 
8 programs. This language was included in the approved House version.  
 
 

                 XI.  KCHA IN THE NEWS 
  
  None. 

  
 

XII. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
  

Commissioner John Welch commented about recently being at an Executive 
Leadership meeting with Bellevue Public Schools and they highlighted their 
relationship with the housing authority and expressed their appreciation for the 
partnership.  
 
We have been working on trying to put together stakeholders in the roadmap 
region, South King County seven districts, and looking at our Early Learning 
System. Ted Dezember has sat in those meetings as we are coming together and 
figuring out how this group will operate and what the system and needs are. 
Commissioner Welch expressed appreciation for the housing authority’s 
participation.  
 
The Director for Educare, Kellie Morrill is leaving, so we will be hiring a new 
Director. We often try and have our interview processes include representation from 
our partnerships, so we will be looking to the housing authority to see if someone 
can sit on that team as we get closer. 
 



KCHA Board of Commissioners’ 
June 10, 2019 

Meeting Minutes 
Page 6 of 6 

 

 

II. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Chair Barnes adjourned the meeting at 10:30 a.m.  
 

 
 
 
 

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE  
COUNTY OF KING, WASHINGTON 

 
 

_____________________________ 
DOUGLAS J. BARNES, Chair  

Board of Commissioners 
________________________  
    STEPHEN J. NORMAN 
    Secretary 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
2 

















   
 

 
T0:  Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Dan Landes, Director of Development 
 
Date August 8, 2019 
 
Re:  Resolution No. 5626 – A Resolution of the Housing Authority authorizing the 

submission of funding applications to finance a portion of the expansion of 
Rainier View Mobile Home Park, the acquisition and rehabilitation of Abbey 
Ridge and the acquisitions of Kirkland Heights and Juanita View. 

 

 
Resolution 5626 authorizes the Housing Authority to submit applications for funding to the 
Washington State Department of Commerce, King County Housing Finance Program and A 
Regional Coalition for Housing to finance a portion of the expansion of Rainier View Mobile 
Home Park, the acquisition and rehabilitation of Abbey Ridge and the acquisitions of 
Kirkland Heights and Juanita View. 
 
Recently, a number of the public funders have started requiring authorization from an 
organization’s governing board as a condition of submitting funding applications for grants 
and low interest loans.  The Housing Authority is intending to submit four such applications 
this fall and a resolution from the board authorizing KCHA to make these applications is a 
required part of their respective submission packages. 
 
The applications are to assist with a portion of the funding for the following projects: 
 

 Adding up to 15 additional manufactured home pads and homes at the Rainier View 
Mobile Home Park (estimated application amount to the Department of Commerce is 
$600,000). 

 

 The acquisition and rehab of the Abbey Ridge Apartments (estimated application 
amount to King County Housing Finance Program is $3,650,000). 

 

 The acquisition of Kirkland Heights and Juanita View Apartments (estimated 
application amount to A Regional Coalition for Housing is $2,000,000). 

 
Staff recommends passage of Resolution No. 5626 
 

 



 

 

 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 5626 

 

(Capital Funding Applications) 

 

 

  

  

 A RESOLUTION of the Housing Authority of the County of King authorizing the 

Executive Director to submit applications for funding to the Washington State Department 

of Commerce, King County Housing Finance Program and A Regional Coalition for 

Housing to finance an expansion of Rainier View Mobile Home Park, the acquisition and 

rehabilitation of Abbey Ridge Apartments, and the acquisition of  Kirkland Heights and 

Juanita View. 

 

 

 

ADOPTED August 19, 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 5626 

 

(Capital Funding Applications) 

 

  

 A RESOLUTION of the Housing Authority of the County of King authorizing the 

Executive Director to submit applications for funding to the Washington State Department 

of Commerce, King County Housing Finance Program and A Regional Coalition for 

Housing to finance an expansion of Rainier View Mobile Home Park, the acquisition and 

rehabilitation of Abbey Ridge, and the acquisition of  Kirkland Heights and Juanita View. 

 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.070(5) provides that a housing authority may, among other things and if 

certain conditions are met, “lease or rent any dwellings . . . buildings, structures or facilities embraced in any 

housing project”; and 

WHEREAS, the Housing Authority of the County of King (the “Authority”) seeks to encourage 

the provision of housing for low-income persons residing within King County, Washington; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.020 defines “housing project” to include, among other things, “any work or 

undertaking . . . to provide decent, safe and sanitary urban or rural dwellings, apartments, mobile home parks, 

or other living accommodations for persons of low income”; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.070(2) provides that a housing authority has the power to “acquire, lease 

and operate housing projects” and to “provide for the construction, reconstruction, improvement, alteration or 

repair of any housing project or any part thereof” ; and 

WHEREAS, since 1986, the Authority has owned and operated a mobile home park called Rainier 

View located at 32631 First Avenue, Black Diamond, Washington currently containing 30 units of low income 

housing and this property has additional land with the capacity to create space for at least 15 new mobile home 

pads; and 

WHEREAS, the Washington State Department of Commerce (“WADOC”) published a Notice of 

Funding Availability on June 17, 2019 soliciting applications for capital funding through its Housing Trust 

Fund (“HTF”), including $5,000,000 set aside to finance homeownership projects; and 



 

 

WHEREAS, the expansion of Rainier View is an activity that is eligible for this homeownership 

funding; and 

WHEREAS, in 2016, the Authority acquired certain real property known as Abbey Ridge Apartments 

located at 3035 S 204th Street, SeaTac, Washington, currently containing 146 units of low income housing, 

and the Authority has identified $20 million in capital needs at Abbey Ridge; and 

WHEREAS, the King County Housing, Homelessness and Community Development Division 

(“KCHHCDD”) published a Request for Proposals on July 20, 2019 soliciting applications for capital 

funding through its Housing Finance Program (“HFP”), including $8,000,000 set aside to finance Transit 

Oriented-Development projects in South King County; and 

WHEREAS, the acquisition and rehabilitation of Abbey Ridge is an activity that is eligible for this 

funding; and 

WHEREAS, in 2019, the Authority acquired (i) certain real property known as Kirkland Heights  

Apartments located at 13310 NE 133rd St, Washington, currently containing 180 units of low income housing 

and (ii) certain real property known as Juanita View Apartments located at 11800 101st Place NE, Kirkland, 

currently containing 94 units of low-income housing; and 

WHEREAS, A Regional Coalition for Housing (“ARCH”) opened a competitive application round 

on June 21, 2019 soliciting applications for $6,000,000 in capital funding through its Eastside Housing 

Trust Fund (“EHTF”); and 

WHEREAS, the acquisitions of Kirkland Heights and Juanita View are activities that are eligible 

for this funding;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING, AS FOLLOWS:  

Section 1: The Authority is authorized and directed to submit an application to WACOM for funds 

from the HTF for the expansion of Rainier View Mobile Home Park, and should this application be awarded 

funds, the Executive Director is authorized to execute any agreements necessary to secure such funds, 



 

 

including but not limited to covenents, contracts, loan agreements, notes, deeds of trust, regulatory 

agreements and such other documents as may be deemed reasonable by the Executive Director. 

Section 2. The Authority is authorized and directed to submit an application to KCHHCDD for 

funds from the HFP for the acquisition and rehabilitation of Abbey Ridge, and should this application be 

awarded funds, the Executive Director is authorized to execute any agreements necessary to secure such 

funds, including but not limited to covenents, contracts, loan agreements, notes, deeds of trust, regulatory 

agreements and such other documents as may be deemed reasonable by the Executive Director. 

Section 3. The Authority is authorized and directed to submit an application to ARCH for funds 

from the EHTF for the acquisitions of Kirkland Heights and Juanita View, and should this application be 

awarded funds, the Executive Director is authorized to execute any agreements necessary to secure such 

funds, including but not limited to covenents, contracts, loan agreements, notes, deeds of trust, regulatory 

agreements and such other documents as may be deemed reasonable by the Executive Director. 

Section 4.  Effective Date.  This resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

adoption and approval. 

ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE HOUSING AUTHORITY 

OF THE COUNTY OF KING AT AN OPEN PUBLIC MEETING THIS 19TH DAY OF AUGUST, 

2019.  

 

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY 

OF KING 

 

 

By: 

DOUGLAS J. BARNES, Chair 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________________ 

STEPHEN J. NORMAN, Secretary 

 



 

 

CERTIFICATE 

 

 

I, the undersigned, the duly chosen, qualified and acting Executive Director of the Housing 

Authority of the County of King (the “Authority”) and keeper of the records of the Authority, CERTIFY: 

 1. That the attached Resolution No. 5626 (the “Resolution”) is a true and correct copy of the 

resolution of the Board of Commissioners (the “Board”) of the Authority, as adopted at a special meeting 

of the Authority held on August 19, 2019, and duly recorded in the minute books of the Authority. 

 2. That such meeting was duly convened and held in all respects in accordance with law, and, 

to the extent required by law, due and proper notice of such meeting was given; that a quorum was present 

throughout the meeting and a majority of the members of the Board of Commissioners of the Authority 

present at the meeting voted in the proper manner for the adoption of the Resolution; that all other 

requirements and proceedings incident to the proper adoption of the Resolution have been duly fulfilled, 

carried out and otherwise observed, and that I am authorized to execute this Certificate. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 19th day of August, 2019. 

 

        

Stephen Norman, Secretary and Executive Director of the 

Authority 
 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
3 



tim   

 

T0:  Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Tim Walter, Sr. Director of Development & Asset Management  
 
Date August 1, 2019 
 
Re:  Resolution No. 5627 - Authorizing the issuance of the Authority’s Non-

Revolving Line of Credit Revenue Note, 2019 (Emerson Apartments) to finance 
acquisition of the Emerson Apartments. 

 

 
At the June 10, 2019 Board Meeting, the Board of Commissioners authorized the acquisition 
of the Emerson Apartments in Kirkland (Resolution #5625), subject to the Executive Director’s 
satisfaction with the results of KCHA’s due diligence review. All inspections and reports have 
been satisfactorily completed and the determination has been made to proceed with the 
acquisition.   
 
The sale is expected to close on or before October 31, 2019.  As described in the Emerson 
Apartments Project Profile, KCHA intends to acquire the property with a short-term line of 
credit and then convert the financing to long-term permanent financing on or before the end 
of January, 2020. The Authority’s permanent financing plan is consistent with the financing 
approach outlined in the Project Profile provided at the June Board Meeting, which has been 
attached for your reference. 

 
The short-term financing will be structured as a non-revolving line of credit (“LOC”) with 
KeyBank Government Finance, Inc. in the amount of $66 million.  The LOC matures January 
31, 2020 and has a 10 basis point (.1%) origination fee.  Interest payments are interest only and 
the interest rate is indexed to the 3 month LIBOR rate and is equal to (3 month LIBOR * 
.7901%) + .67% which produces an indicative rate of 2.48% (based on the current 3 month 
LIBOR rate of 2.28%).   
 
Staff recommends passage of Resolution #5627. 
 



 1 

 

Emerson Apartments 
Project Profile 

 
 

Emerson is a 207-unit multifamily transit-oriented development (TOD) apartment 
community located in the Totem Lake neighborhood of Kirkland.   Built in 1983, the development 
consists of 23 two-story buildings (60 one-bedroom units with 1 bath, 58 two-bedroom units with 
1 bath, and 71 two-bedroom units with two baths and 18 three-bedroom units with two baths), a 
leasing office/clubhouse building and a swimming pool and sport court.  KCHA has begun pre-
acquisition due diligence including title review, survey and preparation for the physical 
investigation of the condition of the land and buildings.   

 
 
Purchase Status  
 
This property is currently owned by a private real estate investment company located in northern 
California.   KCHA approached the ownership to discuss our interest in acquiring the property.  
Following a series of discussions, the ownership appears amenable to selling the property to 
KCHA in accordance with the direction of KCHA’s Board of Commissioners, subject to negotiating 
the specific terms of an agreement and satisfaction of the Executive Director with the results of 
KCHA’s due diligence review.  
 
The terms of a purchase and sale agreement would contemplate a sales price of $66,000,000 
($318,840/unit) and allow for a 30-day due diligence inspection window in order for KCHA to 
complete a thorough review of title, environmental, physical condition and overall feasibility of 
the project.  An earnest money deposit would be provided to the seller.  The closing date is 
anticipated to be 60 - 90 days after mutual execution of the purchase and sale agreement.   
 
 
Due Diligence Status  
 
KCHA will conduct an appraisal, capital needs assessment, Phase I environmental assessment, 
zoning review and a survey from third party consultants.  Results from the due diligence 
inspection reports will be available before the expiration of the 30-day contingency period.  Based 
on initial property assessments by KCHA staff, the property appears to be in average to good 
condition. 
 
 
Property Description & Building Condition  
 
Emerson is a residential development located at 11010 NE 124th St. in Kirkland on a 16.8-acre 
parcel.  The site was built in 1983 for multifamily residential use, consistent with current zoning.  
It has been operated as a rental apartment complex since that time.   
 
The property consists of 23 multi-family buildings with a leasing office/laundry room/fitness 
center, outdoor playground, swimming pool, sport court and mature landscaping.  The wood 
frame buildings, totaling 164,000 square feet, are two-story garden style structures with pitched 
roofs. The buildings provide a mix of in-unit and common laundry facilities and extra storage for 
the tenants. There are 39 covered parking spaces and 284 open spaces, with a parking ratio of 
1.56 spaces per unit.   One-bedroom units range in size between 470 - 610 sq. feet, two-bedroom 
units between 755 – 955 sq. feet and three-bedroom units are 1,100 sq. feet. 
 
 



 2 

 

KCHA’s Asset Management and Capital Construction staff, along with third party consultants, 
will be performing inspections of the buildings, including interior inspections of residential units.  
These reports will allow us to gauge the extent of the short and longer-term improvements 
anticipated to be necessary as well as the approximate cost of these improvements.   Based on 
KCHA’s history with acquiring and operating buildings of this age and condition, staff expects to 
find a need for short-term repairs (repairs to be made within the first 12 months) to be in the 
neighborhood of $250,000 and median term repairs and improvements to be between $3 - $5 
million. 
 
 
Unit Configuration 
 
The unit mix includes: 

 26 one-bedroom, one bath units at 470 square feet each, 

 34 one-bedroom, one bath units of 610 square feet each,  

 56 two-bedroom, one bath units of approximately 755 square feet,  

 71 two-bedroom, two bath units of approximately 955 square feet,  

 18 three-bedroom, two bath units of approximately 1,100 square feet. 

 
Neighborhood Description  
 
The property is located in the Totem Lake neighborhood of Kirkland at the cross street of NE 
124th St and 11th Lane NE.  Centrally located, Emerson is less than a three minute walk to QFC, 
less than one mile from the Village at Totem Lake which is currently in phase one of a two phase 
redevelopment and will include 400,000 square feet of retail, restaurant and office space as well 
as a movie theater, apartments, a park and common space.  The Village at Totem Lake is currently 
home to Whole Foods, Nordstrom Rack, Trader Joes and other major retailers.  The fully 
completed redevelopment is expected to bring 2,000 new employees to the Totem Lake area.   
 
Emerson is within the highly acclaimed Lake Washington School District.  Local schools for the 
children living within the property include Bell Elementary, Finn Hill Middle School and Juanita 
High School.   
 
The site has one primary entrance serving the complex and the bus stop for Metro route 255 
which provides frequent all day access to the Totem Lake and to downtown Seattle is located 
adjacent to the entrance.  The property is also less than ½ mile to both the Totem Lake Freeway 
Station and the Kingsgate Park and Ride.  Metro’s website indicates that their long-range 
expansion plan will include a Rapid Ride route which would run a similar route to the 255.  
 
Emerson is surrounded by residential condominiums, with the Juanita Country Club 
condominiums to the west and Kirkland Place condominiums to the east. It is an easy commute to 
Seattle, Redmond and Bellevue and is in close proximity to major Eastside employers including 
Google, Evergreen Health, Oculus and Microsoft.   
 
 
Strategic Rationale for Acquisition 
 
KCHA’s Board of Commissioners has identified the acquisition and development of affordable 
housing in high opportunity areas near or adjacent to transit (transit-oriented development 
“TOD”) as a priority in order to address a shortage of affordable housing with easy access to 
reliable public transportation.  Emerson’s access to local transit and convenient access to 
downtown Seattle, the Totem Lake Freeway Station and the Kingsgate Park and Ride strategically 
positions the property to provide easy and convenient transportation to not only Kirkland itself, 



 3 

 

but the larger region as well. 
 
Multifamily housing located in high opportunity areas with convenient access to transit and near 
expanding job centers has experienced continued rent escalation as demand for these locations 
grows.  This is especially acute for existing properties whose rents have been relatively affordable 
relative to new construction in the same location.  Emerson, while operating as a market rate 
apartment complex, currently provides housing generally affordable to households at or below 
80% of the Area Median Income (AMI).  Preservation of existing naturally occurring affordable 
housing is a key strategy to ensure that, over the long-term, rents within these communities do 
not continue to escalate to the point they are no longer affordable and existing residents 
displaced.  With Amazon’s announcement to locate up to 25,000 employees on the Eastside, the 
need to acquire and preserve this housing resource is necessary to ensure the preservation of the 
dwindling supply of affordable housing. 
 
Emerson is also located in a high opportunity community, which is defined by King County as a 
“community where households have access to good schools, transportation and economic 
opportunities to promote upward mobility.”  With 207 apartments of which over 70% are two and 
three-bedroom units, Emerson provides access to transportation and economic opportunities for 
numerous households.  The large number of two and three-bedroom units allows stable, 
uninterrupted access to excellent schools for lower income families who are at risk of being priced 
out of their homes. 
 
 
Proposed Financing 
 
Interim Financing - KCHA anticipates acquiring the property with proceeds from a draw on a 
proposed line of credit from KeyBank. The line of credit would bear an approximate interest rate 
of 2.75% and is subject to changes in the monthly LIBOR rate. 
 
Permanent Financing – KCHA has a number of different options for the permanent financing of 
the development.  The three most likely scenarios include: 1) a public sale of municipal bonds in 
the full amount of the interim financing backed by a general revenue pledge of KCHA; 2) a public 
sale of the amount of governmental housing bonds that can be supported directly by the net rental 
revenues of the property (approximately $45 million) and the balance of the interim loan 
refinanced with a public sale of municipal bonds backed by a combination of a general revenue 
pledge of KCHA and a King County loan guarantee (as part of KCHA’s $200 million credit 
enhancement program with King County) or 3) a public sale of the amount of governmental 
housing bonds that can be supported directly by the net rental revenues of the property and the 
balance of the interim loan financed by a below market mezzanine loan financed in whole by 
public or private sources.   All of the above financing structures would also rely on KCHA’s AA 
credit rating from Standards & Poor’s.  It is KCHA’s intention to put the permanent financing in 
place as soon as reasonably possible after closing.  The financing terms for the primary loan in 
each of the three scenarios mentioned above assumes a 30-year amortizing facility with a 20-year 
maturity and an interest rate of 4%. 
 
It is important to note that similar to other market rate acquisitions, the net rental income 
generated by the operations of the property can only support financing for approximately 55% - 
70% of the purchase price.  The debt service for the remainder of the purchase price will need to 
be covered either through an internal reallocation of net operating income from other Asset 
Management Department properties, through a direct payment of debt service by KCHA’s 
corporate revenues or through a 0%-1% interest only mezzanine loan instrument.   
 
 
 



 4 

 

 
Sources & Uses 
 

USES 

 Acquisition 

Closing Costs 

$66,000,000 

$50,000 

TOTAL $66,050,000 

  
  SOURCES 

 KeyBank Line of Credit 

KCHA Cash 

$66,000,000 

$50,000 

TOTAL $66,050,000 

 
 
 
Risks & Mitigation 
 
Acquisition Risks & Mitigation 
 

 (Risk) The purchase price for the property is above its true market value and KCHA could risk 
overpaying for the property. 
 

 (Mitigation) As part of the due diligence process, KCHA will obtain a market rate appraisal of 
the property performed by a MAI appraiser licensed to do business in the State of Washington 
and will limit the acquisition cost to no more than 105% of the appraised value.  Based on current 
cap rates and market potential rents at the site, staff believes the purchase price to be below 
market value. 
 
 

 (Risk) The condition of the property has title or physical defects unforeseen/unknown. 
 

 (Mitigation) KCHA is obtaining a full title report from a title insurance company and is 
conducting extensive engineering and environmental due diligence on the property. KCHA will 
ensure that, upon closing, KCHA will be able to obtain a full owner’s policy insuring clean title 
with extended coverage.  KCHA is conducting a Phase 1 environmental assessment and a 
completing a survey of the property.  
 
 
Financing Risk & Mitigation 
 

 (Risk) KCHA is unable to secure sufficient credit capacity within its line(s) of credit for the 
initial acquisition financing.   
 

 (Mitigation) KCHA has received initial authorization from KeyBank for a new line of credit in 
an amount sufficient to cover the full cost of acquisition.  Formal approval is expected to be 
received prior to the end of KCHA’s due diligence window. 
 
 (Risk) Short-term/Long-term interest rates spike.  
 

 (Mitigation) KCHA expects to pursue permanent financing within the next 4 – 9 months.  
While interest rates can swing widely within a short window of time, short-term interest rates 



 5 

 

have negligible costs on the overall financing and long-term interest rates have been stable.  
Securing permanent financing as soon as reasonably possible will help mitigate exposure to 
increases in long-term interest rates.  
 
 
Rehab Risk & Mitigation 
 

 (Risk) Additional repair and improvement costs are needed beyond what is visible from due 
diligence inspections.  
 

 (Mitigation) KCHA is in the process of completing its due diligence of the property.  Staff 
estimates that of the $3.25 million - $5.25 million in projected repairs and improvements, the 
property will require less than $250,000 in short-term repairs.  The additional improvements can 
be made over the next 3 – 8 years without negatively impacting the physical viability of the 
property. On-going routine repairs and replacements can be paid for through net cash flow from 
property operations.  Unforeseen repairs not able to be paid for from property operations could 
also be funded from additional draws on a KCHA line of credit or from KCHA reserves. KCHA has 
extensive experience in assessing this type of property and in undertaking needed repairs and 
upgrades.  

 

Balance Sheet Impact 
 

 (Risk) The combined additional debt from acquisition of the IAM 751 properties, Kendall 
Ridge and the Emerson Apartments pushes KCHA’s debt service coverage (“DSCR”) below the 1.1 
ratio required under existing debt covenants or jeopardizes KCHA’s current Standard and Poor’s 
rating. 
 

 (Mitigation) While the additional debt will incrementally impact the debt service coverage 
ratio, KCHA DSCR is well above the 1.1 required ratio and the additional debt will not impact 
KCHA’s ability to meet this covenant.  KCHA has also been in discussion with Standard and 
Poor’s regarding their rating criteria and given that their rating criteria equally weights financial 
performance and mission driven activity (which includes the acquisition and preservation of 
workforce housing), no change in KCHA’s rating is expected from the increase in the Agency’s 
debt related to these transactions. 



  

53448036.2 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING 

RESOLUTION NO. 5627 

 A RESOLUTION of the Board of Commissioners of the Housing 

Authority of the County of King providing for the issuance of the Authority’s 

Non-Revolving Line of Credit Revenue Note, 2019 (Emerson Apartments), in the 

principal amount of not to exceed $66,000,000, the proceeds of which will be 

used to finance the acquisition of a 207-unit apartment complex located in 

Kirkland, Washington, known as the Emerson Apartments; determining the form, 

terms and covenants of the note; creating a note fund; approving the sale and 

providing for the delivery of the note to Key Government Finance, Inc. or an 

affiliate thereof; authorizing and directing appropriate officers of the Authority to 

negotiate, execute and deliver such other documents as are useful or necessary to 

the purposes of this resolution; and determining related matters. 

 

Adopted August 19, 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This document was prepared by: 

 

FOSTER PEPPER PLLC 

1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3000 

Seattle, Washington 98101 

(206) 447-4400 



1 

 

 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 5627 

 A RESOLUTION of the Board of Commissioners of the Housing 

Authority of the County of King providing for the issuance of the Authority’s 

Non-Revolving Line of Credit Revenue Note, 2019 (Emerson Apartments), in the 

principal amount of not to exceed $66,000,000, the proceeds of which will be 

used to finance the acquisition of a 207-unit apartment complex located in 

Kirkland, Washington, known as the Emerson Apartments; determining the form, 

terms and covenants of the note; creating a note fund; approving the sale and 

providing for the delivery of the note to Key Government Finance, Inc. or an 

affiliate thereof; authorizing and directing appropriate officers of the Authority to 

negotiate, execute and deliver such other documents as are useful or necessary to 

the purposes of this resolution; and determining related matters. 

 

WHEREAS, the Housing Authority of the County of King (the “Authority”) seeks to 

encourage the provision of housing for low-income persons residing in King County, 

Washington (the “County”); and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.070(5) provides that a housing authority may, among other things 

and if certain conditions are met, “own, hold, and improve real or personal property . . .,” 

“purchase, lease, obtain options upon . . . any real or personal property or any interest therein” 

and “lease or rent any dwellings, houses, accommodations, lands, buildings, structures or 

facilities embraced in any housing project”; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.070(2) provides that a housing authority may acquire and provide 

for the construction, reconstruction, improvement, alternation or repair of housing projects; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.020 defines “housing project” to include, among other things, 

“any work or undertaking . . . to provide decent, safe and sanitary urban or rural dwellings, 

apartments, mobile home parks, or other living accommodations for persons of low income” and 

provides that the term “housing project” may be applied to the “acquisition of property, the 



2 

 

demolition of existing structures, the construction, reconstruction, alteration and repair of 

improvements and all other work in connection therewith”; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.020(11) and 35.82.130 together provide that a housing authority 

may issue bonds, notes or other obligations for any of its corporate purposes; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.070(1) permits a housing authority to “make and execute 

contracts and other instruments . . . necessary or convenient to the exercise of the powers of the 

authority”; and  

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.040 authorizes the Authority to “delegate to one or more of its 

agents or employees such powers or duties as it may deem proper”; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority has entered into an agreement to purchase a 207-unit 

apartment complex located at 11010 NE 124th Lane, Kirkland, Washington, known as the 

Emerson Apartments, to be a housing project of the Authority (the “Project”); and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Kirkland, Washington (the “City”), the 

governing body of the City, adopted its Resolution No. 2747 on August 4, 1980, declaring that 

there is a need for the Authority to function within the City; and   

 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of the Authority has determined that it is 

necessary and advisable and in the best interest of the Authority to issue the Note (as hereinafter 

defined), in a principal amount not to exceed $66,000,000 to finance all or a portion of the costs 

of acquiring the Project; and 

 WHEREAS, Key Government Finance, Inc. or an affiliate thereof (the “Lender”) has 

proposed to extend a non-revolving line of credit evidenced by a line of credit note of the Authority 

on the terms set forth in this resolution to provide money for that purpose;  



3 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Definitions. As used in this resolution, the following terms have the following 

meanings: 

“Act” means chapter 35.82 of the Revised Code of Washington. 

“Authority” means the Housing Authority of the County of King, a public body 

corporate and politic duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of 

Washington. 

“Authorized Officers” means the Executive Director of the Authority and any 

Deputy Executive Director of the Authority.  

“Board” means the Board of Commissioners of the Authority. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and applicable 

rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. 

“County” means King County, Washington.  

“General Revenues” means all revenues of the Authority from any source, but 

only to the extent that those revenues are available to pay debt service on the Note and are not 

now or hereafter pledged, by law, regulation, contract, covenant, resolution, deed of trust or 

otherwise (including restrictions relating to funds made available to the Authority under the U.S. 

Housing Act of 1937), solely to another particular purpose. 

“Lender” means Key Government Finance, Inc., or an affiliate thereof, as 

registered owner of the Note. 

“Note” means the Authority’s Non-Revolving Line of Credit Revenue Note, 2019 

(Emerson Apartments). 



4 

 

“Note Fund” means the Authority’s Non-Revolving Line of Credit Revenue Note 

Fund, 2019 (Emerson Apartments), created by this resolution for the purpose of paying principal 

of and interest on the Note. 

“Note Register” means the books or records maintained by the Note Registrar 

containing the name and mailing address of the Registered Owner of the Note. 

“Note Registrar” means the Executive Director of the Authority. 

“Project” means, depending on the context, (1) acquisition of the apartment complex 

located at 11010 NE 124th Lane, Kirkland, Washington known as the Emerson Apartments, or 

(2) the Emerson Apartments.  

“Proposal Letter” means the proposal letter to the Authority from the Lender 

provided on June 19, 2019, as it may be amended, proposing to purchase the Note on the terms 

set forth therein and herein. 

Section 2. Authorization of the Project; Authorization and Description of the Note. 

The Board approves the acquisition of the Project. The Board declares the Project to be a “housing 

project” of the Authority for purposes of the Act. The Authority shall issue the Note in a principal 

amount not to exceed $66,000,000 for the purpose of providing funds with which to pay and/or 

reimburse the Authority for all or part of the costs of the Project. Such Note financing is declared 

and determined to be important for the feasibility of the Project. The Board finds that it is in the 

best interest of the Authority to issue the Note for the purpose set forth in this resolution. 

Section 3.  Description of the Note. The Note shall be called the Authority’s Non-

Revolving Line of Credit Revenue Note, 2019 (Emerson Apartments); shall be in a principal 

amount of not to exceed $66,000,000; shall be dated its date of delivery; shall be numbered R-1; 

and shall mature not more than 364 days from its date of issue. The Note shall bear interest 



5 

 

payable on such dates and at such rate or rates selected by the Authority as described in the 

Proposal Letter (which may include, without limitation, a variable rate based London interbank 

offered rate), shall mature at such time (subject to the limitation set forth above), shall have such 

prepayment or redemption provisions and shall have such other provisions consistent with the 

purposes of this resolution as are set forth in the Note. The Authority finds that the fixing of the 

interest rate index described in the Proposal Letter is in the best interest of the Authority. Interest 

on the Note shall be computed on the basis on a 360 day year with twelve 30-day months.  

The Note shall be subject to redemption, in whole, on dates set forth in the Note upon 30 

days’ prior notice (or such shorter period acceptable to the Lender), at a redemption price equal 

to par plus accrued interest.  

If the Note is not paid when properly presented at its maturity date, the Authority shall be 

obligated to pay interest on the Note at then-applicable default rate of interest thereon from and 

after the maturity date until the Note, both principal and interest, is paid in full.  

At the election of the Lender, the interest rate on the Note will increase by 400 basis 

points (4.00%) during the continuance of an Event of Default. Further, if an Event of Default 

occurs then, at the option of the Lender, the principal of and interest on the Note shall become 

immediately due and payable. “Event of Default” means the declaration by the Lender of an 

event of default as a result of a determination by the Lender that:  

(i) there has been a failure to pay principal or interest on the Note when due, 

as provided in the Note; 

(ii)  there has been a failure by the Authority to comply with any of its 

obligations, or to perform any of its duties, under the Note, which failure continues, and 



6 

 

is not cured, for a period of more than 60 days after the Lender has made written demand 

on the Authority to cure such failure;  

(iii)  there has been a material misrepresentation to the Lender by the Authority 

in the purchase of the Note, as reasonably concluded by the Lender after investigation 

and discussion with the Authority;  

(iv)  any event of default under any other debt or capital lease obligation with 

Lender or an affiliate of Lender under which the Authority is an obligor where there is 

outstanding, owing or committed an aggregate amount in excess of $500,000 has 

occurred, if such default continues, and is not cured, or otherwise waived by the Lender 

or such affiliate within 15 days after written demand is made on the Authority to cure 

such default;  

(v)  the Authority shall (a) apply for or consent to the appointment of a 

receiver, trustee, custodian or liquidator of the Authority, or of all or a substantial part of 

the assets of the Authority, (b) be unable, fail or admit in writing its inability generally to 

pay its debts as they become due, (c) make a general assignment for the benefit of 

creditors, (d) have an order for relief entered against it under applicable federal 

bankruptcy law, or (e) file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or a petition or an answer 

seeking reorganization or an arrangement with creditors or taking advantage of any 

insolvency law or any answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against 

the Authority in any bankruptcy, reorganization, moratorium or insolvency proceeding; 

or 

(vi)  an order, judgment or decree shall be entered by any court of competent 

jurisdiction, approving a petition or appointing a receiver, trustee, custodian or liquidator 



7 

 

for the Authority or of all or a substantial part of the assets of the Authority, in each case 

without its application, approval or consent, and such order, judgment or decree shall 

continue unstayed and in effect for any period of 30 consecutive days. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, as to item (iv), if the default is not a payment default and is not 

associated with the Authority’s material ability to pay, when due, its obligations to the Lender 

(or affiliate of Lender, if applicable), the Authority may have up to 180 days to cure such default 

by providing the Lender (and the affiliate of Lender, if applicable) a written plan within 15 days 

after written notice of default is made to the Authority, describing the Authority’s planned 

timeframe for the cure of the default. Item (iv) is not intended to preempt the terms set forth in 

any other agreement relating to borrowing money, lease financing of property, or provision of 

credit.  

 The Authorized Officers, and each of them acting alone, are authorized to determine and 

approve the final terms of the Note. The execution or authentication of the Note by an 

Authorized Officer shall be conclusive evidence of approval of the terms of the Note as set forth 

therein.  

Section 4. Authorization for Extension and Modification of the Note. The Authorized 

Officers, and each of them acting alone, are authorized on behalf of the Authority to negotiate 

the terms of one or more extensions of maturity date and/or modifications of the terms of the 

Note with the Lender. The Authorized Officers, and each of them acting alone, are authorized, 

without further action of the Board of the Authority, to extend the maturity date of the Note to 

any date on or before December 31, 2028, and/or to modify the interest rate or interest rate 

formula applicable to the Note, if such Authorized Officer determines that such extension and/or 

modification is in the best interest of the Authority, all so long as no other material terms of the 



8 

 

Note is revised (unless otherwise authorized by the Board of the Authority). The Authorized 

Officers, and each of them acting alone, are authorized to do everything necessary for the 

execution and delivery of such documents as are useful or necessary to such extension of 

maturity and/or modification of interest rate or interest rate formula. An Authorized Officer’s 

execution of documents in connection with the modification and/or extension of the Note will 

constitute conclusive evidence of his or her approval of the extensions, modifications and/or 

other terms described therein and the approval by the Authority of such extensions, 

modifications and/or other terms. 

Section 5. Note Registrar; Registration and Transfer of the Note. The Executive 

Director of the Authority shall serve as Note Registrar for the Note. The Note Registrar shall 

keep, or cause to be kept, at his or her office in Tukwila, Washington, sufficient books for the 

registration of the Note (the “Note Register”), which shall contain the name and mailing address 

of the registered owner of the Note. The Note Registrar is authorized, on behalf of the Authority, 

to authenticate and deliver the Note in accordance with the provisions of the Note and this 

resolution, to serve as the Authority’s paying agent for the Note and to carry out all of the Note 

Registrar’s powers and duties under this resolution. 

 The Note shall be issued only in registered form as to both principal and interest and 

recorded on the Note Register. The Note may not be assigned or transferred by the Lender, 

except that the Lender may assign or transfer the Note to any successor to the business and assets 

of the Lender.  

Section 6. Place, Manner and Medium of Payment. Both principal of and interest on 

the Note shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of America and shall be paid by 

check mailed to arrive on or before each payment date, or in immediately available funds 



9 

 

delivered on or before each payment date, to the Registered Owner at the address appearing on 

the Note Register on the date payment is mailed or delivered. Upon the final payment of 

principal of and interest on the Note, the Registered Owner shall surrender the Note at the 

principal office of the Note Registrar, for destruction or cancellation in accordance with law.  

Section 7. Note Fund; Security for the Note. The Note Fund is hereby established as 

a special fund of the Authority and is to be known as the Non-Revolving Line of Credit Revenue 

Note Fund, 2019 (Emerson Apartments). The Note Fund shall be drawn upon for the sole 

purpose of paying the principal of and interest on the Note. The Authority pledges to deposit 

General Revenues into the Note Fund in amounts sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on 

the Note when due. This pledge of General Revenues shall be valid and binding from the time 

when it is made. The General Revenues so pledged and thereafter received by the Authority shall 

immediately be subject to the lien of the pledge without any physical delivery thereof or further 

action, and lien of such pledge shall be valid and binding as against all parties having claims of 

any kind in tort, contract, or otherwise against the Authority, irrespective of whether the parties 

have notice thereof.  

 The Authority reserves without limitation the right to issue other obligations, the 

principal of and interest on which are to be paid from the General Revenues on a parity with 

payments on the Note. At its option, the Authority may pledge any portion of the General 

Revenues to the payment of other obligations of the Authority, such payments to have priority 

over the payments to be made on the Note with respect to that portion of the General Revenues 

so pledged. 

 The Note shall not be a debt of the County, the State of Washington or any political 

subdivision thereof (except the Authority from the source specified herein), and the Note shall so 



10 

 

state on its face. Neither the County, the State of Washington nor any political subdivision thereof 

(except the Authority from the source specified herein) shall be liable for payment of the Note nor 

in any event shall principal of and interest on the Note be payable out of any funds other than the 

Note Fund of the Authority established herein. The owner of the Note shall not have recourse to any 

other fund of the Authority other than the Note Fund, or to any other receipts, revenues or properties 

of the Authority other than as described herein and in the Note. The Authority has no taxing power. 

 Neither the Authority (except to the extent of the pledge of its General Revenues) nor any 

of the Commissioners, officers or employees of the Authority shall be personally liable for the 

payment of the Note. 

Section 8. Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Note. In case the Note shall be lost, stolen or 

destroyed after delivery to the Registered Owner, the Note Registrar may execute and deliver a 

new Note of like date and tenor to the Registered owner upon the Registered Owner paying the 

expenses and charges of the Authority and upon filing with the Note Registrar evidence 

satisfactory to the Note Registrar that such Note was actually lost, stolen or destroyed and of the 

Registered Owner’s ownership thereof, and upon furnishing the Authority with indemnity 

reasonably satisfactory to the Authority. 

Section 9. Form and Execution of Note. The Note shall in a form consistent with the 

provisions of this resolution and state law, shall bear the manual or facsimile signatures of the 

Chair of the Board and the Executive Director and shall be impressed with the seal of the 

Authority or shall bear a manual or facsimile thereof. The Note shall not be valid or obligatory for 

any purpose, or entitled to the benefits of this resolution, unless the Note bears a Certificate of 

Authentication manually signed by the Note Registrar stating “This Note is the fully registered 

Non-Revolving Line of Credit Revenue Note, 2019 (Emerson Apartments), of the Authority 



11 

 

described in the Note Resolution.” A minor deviation in the language of such certificate shall not 

void a Certificate of Authentication that otherwise is substantially in the form of the foregoing. 

The authorized signing of a Certificate of Authentication shall be conclusive evidence that the 

Note so authenticated has been duly executed, authenticated and delivered and is entitled to the 

benefits of this resolution.  

If any officer whose facsimile signature appears on the Note ceases to be an officer of the 

Authority authorized to sign notes before the Note bearing his or her facsimile signature is 

authenticated or delivered by the Note Registrar or issued by the Authority, the Note 

nevertheless may be authenticated, issued and delivered and, when authenticated, issued and 

delivered, shall be as binding on the Authority as though that person had continued to be an 

officer of the Authority authorized to sign notes. The Note also may be signed on behalf of the 

Authority by any person who, on the actual date of signing of the Note, is an officer of the 

Authority authorized to sign notes, although he or she did not hold the required office on the date 

of issuance of the Note. 

Section 10. Preservation of Tax Exemption for Interest on Note. The Authority 

covenants that it will take all actions necessary to prevent interest on the Note from being 

included in gross income for federal income tax purposes, and it will neither take any action nor 

make or permit any use of proceeds of the Note or other funds of the Authority treated as 

proceeds of the Note at any time during the term of the Note which would cause interest on the 

Note to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes. The Authority also 

covenants that it will, to the extent the arbitrage rebate requirement of Section 148 of the Code is 

applicable to the Note, take all actions necessary to comply (or to be treated as having complied) 

with that requirement in connection with the Note, including the calculation and payment of any 



12 

 

penalties that the Authority has elected to pay as an alternative to calculating rebatable arbitrage, 

and the payment of any other penalties if required under Section 148 of the Code to prevent 

interest on the Note from being included in gross income for federal income tax purposes.  

Section 11. Authorization of Documents and Execution Thereof. The Authority 

authorizes and approves the execution and delivery of, and the performance by the Authority of 

its obligations contained in, the Note and this resolution and the consummation by the Authority 

of all other transactions contemplated by this resolution in connection with the issuance of the 

Note. The Board further authorizes the Authorized Officers, and each of them acting alone, to 

negotiate, approve, execute and deliver any credit agreement, loan agreement, and or such other 

instruments and agreements as may be necessary or desirable in connection with the sale of the 

Note to the Lender. The Executive Director of the Authority is authorized to execute the Note 

and the Authorized Officers, and each of them acting alone, are authorized to negotiate, execute 

and deliver documents reasonably required to be executed in connection with the issuance of the 

Note and to ensure the proper use and application of the proceeds of the Note, and to effect any 

extension of the maturity of the Note and modification of interest rate and/ or interest rate 

formula applicable to the Note as described in Section 4. 

 The Note will be prepared at the Authority’s expense and will be delivered to the Lender 

together with the approving legal opinion of Foster Pepper PLLC, municipal bond counsel of 

Seattle, Washington, regarding the Note. 

Section 12. Approval of Transaction. The Lender has offered to purchase the Note at a 

price of par, under the terms and conditions contained in this resolution and the Proposal Letter, 

including the payment of a fee to the Lender plus the fees and expenses of the Lender’s legal 

counsel, and any other out-of-pocket costs incurred by the Lender, each payable at closing. The 



13 

 

Board finds that the Lender’s offer is in the best interest of the Authority and accepts such offer, 

and covenants that it will comply with all terms and conditions of the Proposal Letter. 

Section 13. Reporting Requirements; Covenants. The Authority covenants and agrees 

for so long as the Note remains outstanding, and unless otherwise waived by the Lender, the 

Authority shall maintain a Debt Service Coverage Ratio of not less than 1.10 to 1.0, to be 

calculated at the end of each fiscal year of the Authority. “Debt Service Coverage Ratio” means, 

as of any applicable date, the sum of (a) the change in Authority (primary government) net 

assets, plus (b) interest expense, plus (c) depreciation expense, plus (d) amortization expense, 

plus (or minus) (e) the loss (or gain) on capital assets, plus (f) any non-cash charges to the extent 

deducted in determining the change in net assets, plus (g) payments from reserves or prior years’ 

revenues for programs or facilities, including, without limitation, as examples, payments made to 

forestall evictions due to delayed Section 8 housing payments from the federal government, 

mission driven initiatives or non-capitalized payments from reserves for replacement costs 

related to facilities, plus (h) non-recurring, one-time costs and expenses, not to exceed 

$1,000,000 in any one fiscal year, minus (i) capital grants or contributions in any form; divided 

by the sum of interest expense and Scheduled principal payments made or incurred by the 

Authority during the preceding fiscal year, all as shown on the audited financial statements 

delivered to the Lender. “Scheduled” means all mandatory scheduled amortization payments 

(including without limitation mandatory redemptions) of outstanding indebtedness for borrowed 

money and excludes (a) voluntary prepayments, (b) revolver pay-downs, or (c) the refinance of 

existing debt. 



14 

 

The Authority further covenants and agrees for so long as the Note remains outstanding, 

and unless otherwise waived by the Lender, to shall provide financial information to the Lender 

as follows: 

(A) the Authority’s internally prepared financial statements for such fiscal 

year within 180 days after the fiscal year end, prepared in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles applicable to housing authorities, which shall be 

accompanied by a certificate regarding compliance with the Debt Service Coverage Ratio 

covenant set forth above;  

(B) the Authority’s audited financial statements within 10 days after receipt of 

the Washington State Auditor’s opinion letter, but no later than 290 days after fiscal year 

end; 

(C) the Authority’s internally prepared quarterly financial statements within 

45 days after fiscal quarter end; 

(D) the Authority’s annual budget or any material amendments thereto within 

45 days of adoption; and 

(E) such other information relating to the ability of the Authority to satisfy its 

obligations under the Note, as may be reasonably requested by the Lender from time to 

time. 

Section 14. Acting Officers Authorized. Any action authorized by this resolution to be 

taken by the Executive Director of the Authority, may in his absence be taken by a duly 

authorized Deputy Executive Director of the Authority. Any action authorized by this resolution 

to be taken by a Deputy Executive Director of the Authority, may in his or her absence be taken 

by a duly authorized acting Deputy Executive Director of the Authority. 



15 

 

Section 15. Ratification and Confirmation. Any actions of the Authority or its officers 

prior to the date hereof and consistent with the terms of this resolution are ratified and 

confirmed. 

Section 16. Severability. If any provision in this resolution is declared by any court of 

competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, then such provision shall be null and void and shall 

be deemed separable from the remaining provision of this resolution and shall in no way affect 

the validity of the other provisions of this resolution or of the Note. 

Section 17. Effective Date. This resolution shall be in full force and effect from and 

after its adoption and approval. 

 ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE HOUSING 

AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING AT AN OPEN PUBLIC MEETING THIS 

19TH DAY OF AUGUST, 2019. 

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE 

COUNTY OF KING 

 

 

 

By:        

 DOUGLAS J. BARNES, Chair 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

      

STEPHEN J. NORMAN, Secretary 



CERTIFICATE 

53448036.2 

CERTIFICATE 

 

I, the undersigned, the duly chosen, qualified and acting Secretary and Executive Director 

of the Housing Authority of the County of King (the “Authority”) and keeper of the records of 

the Authority, CERTIFY: 

 

 1. That the attached copy of Resolution No. 5627 (the “Resolution”) is a full, true and 

correct copy of the resolution of the Board of Commissioners of the Authority, as adopted at a 

meeting of the Authority held on August 19, 2019, and duly recorded in the minute books of the 

Authority; 

 

 2. That written notice specifying the time and place of the special meeting and noting 

the business to be transacted was given to all members of the Board of Commissioners by mail, fax, 

electronic mail or personal delivery at least 24 hours prior to the special meeting, a true and 

complete copy of which notice is attached hereto as Appendix I; 

 

 3. That the written notice described above was also posted on the Authority’s website 

and prominently displayed at the main entrance of the Authority’s administrative office at 600 

Andover Park W., Tukwila, Washington  98188 and at the meeting site, if different, at least 24 

hours prior to the special meeting; 

 

 4. That the written notice described above was given to each local radio or television 

station and to each newspaper of general circulation that has on file with the Authority a written 

request to be notified of special meetings and to any others to which such notices are customarily 

given by the Authority; and 

 

 5. That such meeting was duly convened and held in all respects in accordance with 

law; that a quorum was present throughout the meeting and a majority of the members of the 

Board of Commissioners of the Authority present at the meeting voted in the proper manner for 

the adoption of the Resolution; that all other requirements and proceedings incident to the proper 

adoption of the Resolution have been duly fulfilled, carried out and otherwise observed, and that 

I am authorized to execute this Certificate. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 19th day of August, 2019. 

 

 

Stephen Norman, Secretary and Executive Director 

of the Authority 



  1  

53448036.2 

APPENDIX I  

 

 

 

 

 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
4 



   
 

 
T0:  Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Dan Landes, Director of Development  
 
Date August 8, 2019 
 
Re:  Resolution No. 5628 – A Resolution of the Housing Authority of the County of 

King authorizing an increase in the term loan with Bank of America in order to 
meet the Low Income Housing Tax Credit 50% test for Highland Village 

 

 
Resolution No. 5628 authorizes KCHA to take out $2,500,000 in additional tax-exempt 
financing for the Highland Village project. Highland Village is financed in part using tax-
exempt bonds and 4% Low-Income Housing Tax Credits (“LIHTC”). This project was 
packaged as part of a two site tax partnership involving both Highland Village and Somerset 
Gardens.   
 
As a condition of the LIHTC program, in order to access the 4% tax credits, at least 50% of 
the land and depreciable development costs must be financed using private activity bonds. 
This test must be met on a project by project basis (i.e. Somerset Gardens separate from 
Highland Village) and if there is both rehabilitation and new construction within a project, 
the test must be met for each of the two construction types. 
 
While the overall combined rehab/construction budget for Somerset Gardens and Highland 
Village is virtually unchanged, the cost of the work at Somerset Gardens came in less than 
originally projected and more than projected at Highland Village by an almost equal 
amount.  For this reason, the amount of short-term tax-exempt bonds necessary to finance 
the development of Highland Village needs to be increased in order to meet the LIHTC 50% 
test. 
 
KCHA has applied for and received an additional $2.5 million in tax-exempt private activity 
bond cap from the Washington State Housing Finance Commission and the project lender, 
Bank of America, has agreed to increase their tax-exempt bond loan for Highland Village 
from $25 million to $27.5 million.  The terms and conditions related to the incremental 
financing mirror the original Highland Village term loan.  The increase in the tax-exempt 
financing will be sufficient for Highland Village to meet its 50% test for both the 
rehabilitation and new construction buildings at the site.   
 
Staff recommends passage of Resolution No. 5628. 
 

 



53485453.4 

 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 5628 

 

 A RESOLUTION providing for the issuance of the Authority’s Revenue 

Note, 2019 (Highland Village Project), in a principal amount not to exceed 

$2,500,000, the proceeds of which will be used to make a loan to Somerset 

Gardens Apartments LLLP, a Washington limited liability limited partnership of 

which the Authority is the sole general partner (the “Partnership”), for the purpose 

of providing a portion of the funds with which to finance the construction and 

rehabilitation of a multifamily rental housing project known as Highland Village, 

to provide housing for low-income persons in King County, Washington; 

authorizing the execution and delivery of a term loan agreement with Bank of 

America, N.A.; authorizing the execution and delivery of note and loan 

documents and amendments and modifications thereto; approving the sale and 

providing for the delivery of the note to Bank of America, N.A., or an affiliate of 

Bank of America Corporation; authorizing and directing appropriate officers of 

the Authority to execute such other documents as are useful or necessary to the 

purposes of this resolution; and determining related matters.  

 

 

 

Adopted August 19, 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This document was prepared by: 

 

FOSTER PEPPER PLLC 

1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3000 

Seattle, Washington 98101 

(206) 447-4400 



1 

53485453.4 

 

 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 5628 

 

 A RESOLUTION providing for the issuance of the Authority’s Revenue 

Note, 2019 (Highland Village Project), in a principal amount not to exceed 

$2,500,000, the proceeds of which will be used to make a loan to Somerset 

Gardens Apartments LLLP, a Washington limited liability limited partnership of 

which the Authority is the sole general partner (the “Partnership”), for the purpose 

of providing a portion of the funds with which to finance the construction and 

rehabilitation of a multifamily rental housing project known as Highland Village, 

to provide housing for low-income persons in King County, Washington; 

authorizing the execution and delivery of a term loan agreement with Bank of 

America, N.A.; authorizing the execution and delivery of note and loan 

documents and amendments and modifications thereto; approving the sale and 

providing for the delivery of the note to Bank of America, N.A., or an affiliate of 

Bank of America Corporation; authorizing and directing appropriate officers of 

the Authority to execute such other documents as are useful or necessary to the 

purposes of this resolution; and determining related matters. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Housing Authority of the County of King (the “Authority”) seeks to 

encourage the provision of housing for low-income persons residing in King County, 

Washington (the “County”); and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.020 defines “housing project” to include, among other things, 

“any work or undertaking . . . to provide decent, safe and sanitary urban or rural dwellings, 

apartments, mobile home parks or other living accommodations for persons of low income”; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.070(5) provides that a housing authority may, among other 

things, “lease any . . . lands . . . embraced in any housing project and . . . establish and revise the 

rents or charges therefor”; and “sell, lease, exchange, transfer . . . or dispose of any real or 

personal property or any interest therein . . .”; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.070(18) provides that a housing authority may, among other 

things and if certain conditions are met, “make . . . loans for the . . . acquisition, construction . . . 



2 

53485453.4 

rehabilitation, improvement . . . or refinancing of land, buildings, or developments for housing 

for persons of low-income”; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.020(11) and 35.82.130 together provide that a housing 

authority may issue bonds, notes or other obligations for any of its corporate purposes; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 5577 of the Authority (the “Omnibus 

Resolution”) adopted by the Board of Commissioners of the Authority (the “Board”) on 

December 7, 2017, together with Resolution 5585 of the Authority (the “Supplemental 

Resolution”) adopted by the Board on February 26, 2018, the Authority leased to Somerset 

Gardens Apartments LLLP (the “Partnership”) an apartment complex known as Highland 

Village, located at 600 146th Avenue NE, Bellevue, Washington (the “Project”), together with 

the underlying property, pursuant to a Lease Agreement dated as of March 29, 2018 

(the “Lease”); and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 5578 (the “2017 Note Resolution”) of the 

Authority adopted by the Board on December 7, 2017, and a Term Loan Agreement (Highland 

Village) dated December 15, 2017, as amended by a First Amendment to Term Loan Agreement 

(Highland Village) dated March 29, 2018, each between the Authority and Bank of America, 

N.A., the Authority previously issued its $25,000,000 original principal amount Revenue Note, 

2017 (Highland Village Project) (the “2017 Revenue Note”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Omnibus Resolution, the 2017 Note Resolution, the 

Supplemental Resolution, and a Loan Agreement dated March 29, 2018, the Authority lent to the 

Partnership the proceeds of the 2017 Revenue Note, to finance the Partnership’s acquisition (for 

federal income tax purposes), construction and rehabilitation of the Project; and  



3 

53485453.4 

WHEREAS, in connection with the 2017 Revenue Note, Highland Village Apartments 

LLLP and the Authority entered into a Regulatory Agreement dated as of December 1, 2017, as 

assigned to and assumed by the Partnership pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption 

Agreement dated March 29, 2018, restricting the use of the Project as described therein; and 

WHEREAS, the Partnership has applied to the Authority for additional financial 

assistance for the purpose of providing additional funds with which to finance the rehabilitation 

and construction of the Project, all to provide housing for low-income persons in the County; and  

WHEREAS, the Partnership has requested that the Authority issue and sell its non-

revolving line of credit revenue note in a principal amount not to exceed $2,500,000 for the 

purpose of assisting the Partnership in financing the rehabilitation and construction of the 

Project; and  

WHEREAS, the Project will be used by the Partnership to provide housing for low-

income persons, and no more than an insubstantial portion of the proceeds of the 2019 Revenue 

Note (defined below) will be used in connection with the financing or refinancing of any portion 

of the Project to be used for any other purpose; and 

 WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is necessary and advisable that the 

Authority issue the 2019 Revenue Note in a principal amount not to exceed $2,500,000, the 

proceeds of which will be lent to the Partnership for the purposes described herein; and  

 WHEREAS, Bank of America, N.A., or an affiliate of Bank of America Corporation has 

proposed to extend a credit facility evidenced by a line of credit note of the Authority and a term 

loan agreement on the terms set forth in this resolution, to provide money for those purposes; and  

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.040 provides that a housing authority may delegate to one or 

more of its agents or employees such powers or duties as it may deem proper;  



4 

53485453.4 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS OF THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING AS 

FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Definitions. As used in this resolution, the following words have the following 

meanings: 

“Authority” means the Housing Authority of the County of King, a public body 

corporate and politic duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of 

Washington. 

“Authorized Officers” means the Executive Director of the Authority and any 

Deputy Executive Director of the Authority.  

“Bank” means Bank of America, N.A. or an affiliate of Bank of America 

Corporation, as the initial registered owner of the 2019 Revenue Note, and its successors and 

assigns. 

“Board” means the Board of Commissioners of the Authority. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and applicable 

rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. 

“County” means King County, Washington. 

“First Amendment to KCHA Loan Agreement” means a First Amendment to 

Loan Agreement between the Authority and the Partnership.  

“First Amendment to Regulatory Agreement” means a First Amendment to 

Regulatory Agreement between the Partnership and the Authority. 

“General Revenues” means all revenues of the Authority from any source, but 

only to the extent that those revenues are available to pay debt service on the 2019 Revenue Note 



5 

53485453.4 

and are not now or hereafter pledged, by law, regulation, contract, covenant, resolution, deed of 

trust or otherwise (including restrictions relating to funds made available to the Authority under 

the U.S. Housing Act of 1937), solely to another particular purpose. 

“KCHA Loan Agreement” means the Loan Agreement dated March 29, 2018, 

between the Authority and the Partnership, as amended by the First Amendment to KCHA Loan 

Agreement, including any further supplements or amendments thereto made in conformity 

therewith. 

“Note Registrar” means the Executive Director of the Authority. 

“Partnership” means Somerset Gardens Apartments LLLP, a Washington limited 

liability limited partnership.  

“Project” means, depending on the context, (1) rehabilitation and construction of 

a multifamily rental housing project to contain a total of approximately 100 dwelling units, 

known as Highland Village, located at 600 146th Avenue NE, Bellevue, Washington, or (2) the 

Highland Village rental housing project. 

“Regulatory Agreement” means the Regulatory Agreement dated December 1, 

2017, between Highland Village Apartments LLLP and the Authority, as assigned to and 

assumed by the Partnership pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated March 

29, 2019, between Highland Village Apartments LLLP and the Partnership, as amended by the 

First Amendment to Regulatory Agreement, and including any further supplements or 

amendments thereto made in conformity therewith. 

“2019 Loan” means the loan to the Partnership of proceeds of the 2019 Revenue 

Note. 



6 

53485453.4 

“2019 Revenue Note” means the Authority’s Revenue Note, 2019 (Highland 

Village Project). 

“2019 Revenue Note Fund” means the Authority’s Revenue Note Fund, 2019 

(Highland Village Project), created by this resolution for the purpose of paying principal of and 

interest on the 2019 Revenue Note. 

“2019 Term Loan Agreement” means a Term Loan Agreement between the 

Authority and the Bank setting forth certain covenants and conditions relating to the 2019 

Revenue Note, including any supplements or amendments thereto made in conformity therewith.   

Section 2. Authorization of 2019 Revenue Note and Application of Proceeds. The 

Authority shall issue the 2019 Revenue Note in a principal amount not to exceed $2,500,000 for 

the purpose of making a loan to the Partnership to provide a portion of the funds required to 

accomplish the Project. Such 2019 Revenue Note financing is declared and determined to be 

important for the feasibility of the Project. All proceeds of the 2019 Revenue Note shall be lent 

to the Partnership for those purposes. The Board finds that it is in the best interest of the 

Authority to issue the 2019 Revenue Note for the purposes set forth in this resolution.  

Section 3. Description of the 2019 Revenue Note. The 2019 Revenue Note shall be called 

the Revenue Note, 2019 (Highland Village Project), of the Authority; shall be in a principal 

amount not to exceed $2,500,000; and shall be dated its date of delivery. The Authorized 

Officers, and each of them acting alone, are authorized to determine and approve the final terms 

of the 2019 Revenue Note. The 2019 Revenue Note shall be issued in registered form; and shall 

be in such denomination, shall bear interest payable on such dates and at such rates (which may 

include, without limitation, variable rate(s) based on the London interbank offered rate, variable 

rate(s) based on the Bank’s prime rate, and/or fixed rate(s)), shall mature at such times and in 



7 

53485453.4 

such amounts, shall have such prepayment or redemption provisions and shall have such other 

provisions consistent with the purposes of this resolution as set forth in the 2019 Revenue Note 

and the 2019 Term Loan Agreement. The execution or authentication of the 2019 Revenue Note 

by an Authorized Officer shall be conclusive evidence of approval by the Authority of the terms 

of the 2019 Revenue Note as set forth therein. 

The interest rate on the 2019 Revenue Note shall be subject to adjustment upon the 

occurrence of an Event of Default (as defined in the 2019 Term Loan Agreement) or upon the 

occurrence of a Determination of Taxability (as defined in the 2019 Term Loan Agreement).   

If the 2019 Revenue Note is not paid when properly presented at its maturity date, the 

Authority shall be obligated to pay interest on the 2019 Revenue Note at then-applicable default 

rate of interest thereon from and after the maturity date until the 2019 Revenue Note, both 

principal and interest, is paid in full.   

The Authorized Officers, and each of them acting alone, are authorized to determine and 

approve the final terms of the 2019 Revenue Note and the 2019 Term Loan Agreement. The 

execution of such instruments by an Authorized Officer shall be conclusive evidence of approval 

of the terms set forth therein on behalf of the Authority.  

Section 4. Note Registrar; Registration and Transfer of 2019 Revenue Note. The 2019 

Revenue Note shall be issued only in registered form as to both principal and interest and shall 

be recorded on books or records maintained for the 2019 Revenue Note by the Note Registrar 

(the “Note Register”). The Executive Director of the Authority shall serve as Note Registrar for 

the 2019 Revenue Note. The Note Register shall contain the name and mailing address of the 

registered owner of the 2019 Revenue Note. The Note Registrar is authorized, on behalf of the 

Authority, to authenticate and deliver the 2019 Revenue Note in accordance with the provisions 



8 

53485453.4 

of the 2019 Revenue Note and this resolution, to serve as the Authority’s paying agent for the 

2019 Revenue Note and to carry out all of the Note Registrar’s powers and duties under this 

resolution.  

 The 2019 Revenue Note may be assigned or transferred only (i) in whole (a) to a “qualified 

institutional buyer” as defined in Rule 144A promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as 

amended, (b) to an affiliate of the Bank, or (c)  as otherwise provided in the 2019 Term Loan 

Agreement, (ii) if endorsed in the manner provided thereon and surrendered to the Note Registrar, 

and (iii) upon the assignee or transferee delivering to the Authority an executed Certificate of 

Transferee in the form attached to the 2019 Revenue Note.  The Note Registrar shall not be 

obligated to exchange or transfer the 2019 Revenue Note during the five days preceding any 

interest payment date, prepayment date or the maturity date.  

Section 5. Payment of the 2019 Revenue Note. Both principal of and interest on the 

2019 Revenue Note shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of America and shall 

be paid by check mailed to arrive on or before each payment date, or in immediately available 

funds delivered on or before each payment date (including, without limitation, by wire transfer), 

to the Registered Owner at the address appearing on the Note Register on the date payment is 

mailed or delivered. Upon the final payment of principal of and interest on the 2019 Revenue 

Note, the Registered Owner shall surrender the 2019 Revenue Note at the principal office of the 

Note Registrar in Tukwila, Washington, for destruction in accordance with law.  

Section 6. 2019 Revenue Note Fund; Security for the 2019 Revenue Note. The 2019 

Revenue Note Fund is hereby established as a special fund of the Authority designated the 

Revenue Note Fund, 2019 (Highland Village Project). The 2019 Revenue Note Fund shall be 

drawn upon for the sole purpose of paying the principal of and interest on the 2019 Revenue 



9 

53485453.4 

Note and the other obligations of the Authority under the 2019 Term Loan Agreement. The 

Authority pledges to deposit into the 2019 Revenue Note Fund, (a) from General Revenues, and 

(b) from amounts received by the Authority from the Partnership in repayment of the 2019 Loan 

to the extent derived from equity contributions received by the Partnership from one or more of 

its limited partners in connection with low income housing tax credits allocated to the Project, as 

and to the extent described in the 2019 Term Loan Agreement (the “Other Pledged Collateral”), 

amounts sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the 2019 Revenue Note when due and 

the other obligations of the Authority under the 2019 Term Loan Agreement.   

The Authority hereby pledges its General Revenues and the Other Pledged Collateral to 

the payment of debt service on the 2019 Revenue Note and its other obligations under the 2019 

Revenue Note and the 2019 Term Loan Agreement. The Authority reserves without limitation 

the right to issue other obligations, the principal of and interest on which are to be paid from the 

General Revenues on a parity with payments on the 2019 Revenue Note and its other obligations 

under the 2019 Revenue Note and the 2019 Term Loan Agreement.  At its option, the Authority 

may pledge any portion of the General Revenues to the payment of other obligations of the 

Authority, such payments to have priority over the payments to be made on the 2019 Revenue 

Note and its other obligations under the 2019 Term Loan Agreement with respect to that portion 

of the General Revenues so pledged.  

The Authorized Officers, and each of them acting alone, are hereby granted the 

discretionary authority to include in the 2019 Term Loan Agreement additional pledge(s) to 

secure the payment of the Authority’s obligations under the 2019 Revenue Note and the 2019 

Term Loan Agreement.  



10 

53485453.4 

The 2019 Revenue Note shall not be a debt of King County, the State of Washington or 

any political subdivision thereof (except the Authority from the sources specified herein), and the 

2019 Revenue Note shall so state on its face.  Neither King County, the State of Washington nor 

any political subdivision thereof (except the Authority from the sources specified herein) shall be 

liable for payment of the 2019 Revenue Note nor in any event shall principal of and interest on 

the 2019 Revenue Note be payable out of any funds other than the 2019 Revenue Note Fund of 

the Authority established herein.  The owner of the 2019 Revenue Note shall not have recourse 

to any other fund of the Authority other than the 2019 Revenue Note Fund, or to any other 

receipts, revenues or properties of the Authority other than as described herein and in the 2019 

Revenue Note.  The Authority has no taxing power. 

None of the Commissioners, officers or employees of the Authority shall be personally 

liable for the payment of the 2019 Revenue Note. 

Section 7. Form and Execution of 2019 Revenue Note. The 2019 Revenue Note shall 

be prepared in a form consistent with the provisions of this resolution and state law, shall bear 

the manual or facsimile signatures of the Chair of the Board and Executive Director of the 

Authority and shall be impressed with the seal of the Authority or shall bear a facsimile thereof. 

The 2019 Revenue Note shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose, or entitled to the 

benefits of this resolution, unless the 2019 Revenue Note bears a Certificate of Authentication 

manually signed by the Note Registrar stating: “This Note is the fully registered Revenue Note, 

2019 (Highland Village Project), of the Authority described in the Note Resolution.” A minor 

deviation in the language of such certificate shall not void a Certificate of Authentication that 

otherwise is substantially in the form of the foregoing. The authorized signing of a Certificate of 



11 

53485453.4 

Authentication shall be conclusive evidence that the 2019 Revenue Note so authenticated has 

been duly executed, authenticated and delivered and is entitled to the benefits of this resolution. 

If any officer whose facsimile signature appears on the 2019 Revenue Note ceases to be 

an officer of the Authority authorized to sign notes before the 2019 Revenue Note bearing his or 

her facsimile signature is authenticated or delivered by the Note Registrar or issued by the 

Authority, the 2019 Revenue Note nevertheless may be authenticated, delivered and issued and, 

when authenticated, issued and delivered, shall be as binding on the Authority as though that 

person had continued to be an officer of the Authority authorized to sign notes. The 2019 

Revenue Note also may be signed on behalf of the Authority by any person who, on the actual 

date of signing of the 2019 Revenue Note, is an officer of the Authority authorized to sign notes, 

although he or she did not hold the required office on the date of issuance of the 2019 Revenue 

Note. 

Section 8. Preservation of Tax Exemption for Interest. Subject to the last paragraph 

of this section, the Authority covenants that it will take all actions necessary to prevent interest 

on the 2019 Revenue Note from being included in gross income for federal income tax purposes, 

and it will neither take any action nor make or permit any use of proceeds of the 2019 Revenue 

Note or other funds of the Authority treated as proceeds of the 2019 Revenue Note at any time 

during the term of the 2019 Revenue Note which would cause interest on the 2019 Revenue Note 

to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes. The Authority also covenants 

that it will, to the extent the arbitrage rebate requirements of Section 148 of the Code are 

applicable to the 2019 Revenue Note, take all actions necessary to comply (or to be treated as 

having complied) with those requirements in connection with the 2019 Revenue Note, including 

the calculation and payment of any penalties that the Authority has elected to pay as an 



12 

53485453.4 

alternative to calculating rebatable arbitrage, and the payment of any other penalties if required 

under Section 148 of the Code to prevent interest on the 2019 Revenue Note from being included 

in gross income for federal income tax purposes (but only from amounts received by the 

Authority from the Partnership as payments for those purposes).  

The Partnership will agree in the KCHA Loan Agreement to reimburse the Authority for 

all costs to the Authority of its compliance with the covenants contained in this section, and the 

Authority shall not be required to expend any funds, other than such amounts to be reimbursed or 

other money received under the terms of the KCHA Loan Agreement, in so complying.  

Section 9. Reimbursement. For purposes of applicable Treasury Regulations, the 

Partnership and the Authority are authorized to advance such funds as may be necessary for the 

Project and the financing thereof, which expenditures may be reimbursed with proceeds of the 

2019 Revenue Note. It is intended that this resolution shall constitute a declaration of official 

intent to reimburse expenditures for the Project made before the issue date of the 2019 Revenue 

Note from proceeds of the 2019 Revenue Note, for the purposes of Treasury Regulations 

Sections 1.103-8(a)(5) and 1.150-2.  

Section 10. Note and Loan Documents. The Board authorizes the Authorized Officers, 

and each of them acting alone, to negotiate, approve, execute, and deliver the First Amendment 

to Regulatory Agreement, the First Amendment to KCHA Loan Agreement, the 2019 Term Loan 

Agreement, the 2019 Revenue Note and such other documents, instruments and agreements as 

may be necessary or desirable in connection with the issuance of the 2019 Revenue Note, the 

delivery of the 2019 Revenue Note to the Bank and the making of the 2019 Loan to the 

Partnership.  The Board authorizes and approves the performance by the Authority of its 

obligations contained in, the 2019 Revenue Note, the KCHA Loan Agreement, the 2019 Term 



13 

53485453.4 

Loan Agreement, other documents executed by the Authority in connection with or pertaining to 

the 2019 Revenue Note, and the consummation by the Authority of all other transactions 

contemplated by this resolution in connection with the issuance of the 2019 Revenue Note.  The 

execution of any such instrument an Authorized Officer shall be conclusive evidence of approval 

of the terms set forth therein on behalf of the Authority. 

 The 2019 Revenue Note will be prepared at the Authority’s expense and will be delivered 

to the Bank together with the approving legal opinion of Foster Pepper PLLC, municipal bond 

counsel of Seattle, Washington, or a successor thereto, regarding the 2019 Revenue Note. 

Section 11. Authorization of Partnership Documents and Execution Thereof.  The 

Board authorizes and directs the Authorized Officers, and each of them acting alone, to 

negotiate, execute and deliver, on behalf of the Authority in its capacity as general partner of the 

Partnership, the First Amendment to Regulatory Agreement, the First Amendment to KCHA 

Loan Agreement, and such other documents, instruments and agreements as may be necessary or 

desirable in connection with the issuance of the 2019 Revenue Note, the delivery of the 2019 

Revenue Note to the Bank and the 2019 Loan to the Partnership.   

Section 12. Supplemental Authorization. The Authorized Officers, and each of them 

acting alone, are authorized on behalf of the Authority (acting on its own behalf or as general 

partner of the Partnership) to: (i) determine that any document authorized by this resolution is, at 

the time such document otherwise would be executed, no longer necessary or desirable and, 

based on such determination, cause the Authority and/or the Partnership not to execute or deliver 

such document; (ii) execute and deliver and, if applicable file (or cause to delivered and/or filed) 

any government forms, affidavits, certificates, letters, documents, agreements and instruments 

that such officer determines to be necessary or advisable to give effect to this resolution and to 



14 

53485453.4 

consummate the transactions contemplated herein and/or further the rehabilitation, development, 

financing, construction, and leasing of the Project; and (iii) cause the Authority and/or the 

Partnership to expend such funds as are necessary to pay for all filing fees, application fees, 

registration fees and other costs relating to the actions authorized by this resolution. The Board 

further authorizes the Authorized Officers, and each of them acting alone, to do everything 

necessary or appropriate for the issuance, execution and delivery of the 2019 Revenue Note to 

the purchaser thereof and to execute and deliver any other documents that may be useful or 

necessary to ensure the proper use and application of the proceeds from the sale of the 2019 

Revenue Note.  

Section 13. Execution of Duties and Obligations. The Board authorizes and approves the 

execution and delivery of, and the performance by the Authority (whether acting on its own 

behalf or in its capacity as general partner of the Partnership) of its obligations contained in, the 

2019 Revenue Note, the First Amendment to KCHA Loan Agreement, the KCHA Loan 

Agreement, the 2019 Term Loan Agreement, the First Amendment to Regulatory Agreement, the 

Regulatory Agreement, other documents executed by the Authority in connection with the 2019 

Revenue Note, and the consummation by the Authority of all other transactions contemplated by 

this resolution in connection with the issuance of the 2019 Revenue Note. The Board authorizes 

and direct the Authority’s Executive Director to cause the Authority (whether acting on its own 

behalf or in its capacity as general partner of the Partnership, as applicable) to fulfill the 

Authority’s duties and obligations, and cause the Partnership to fulfill the Partnership’s duties 

and obligations under the various agreements authorized by this resolution.  

Section 14. Approval of Note Transaction. It is anticipated that the Bank will offer to 

purchase the 2019 Revenue Note under the terms and conditions contained in this resolution. The 



15 

53485453.4 

Board finds that such offer is in the best interest of the Authority and the Partnership, and 

therefore authorizes the Authorized Officers, and each of them acting alone, to accept an offer 

from the Bank to purchase the 2019 Revenue Note, so long as not inconsistent with the terms set 

forth herein.  

Section 15. Acting Officers Authorized. Any action required by this resolution to be 

taken by the Chair of the Board may in the absence of such person be taken by the duly 

authorized acting Chair of the Board. Any action authorized by this resolution to be taken by the 

Executive Director of the Authority, may in his absence be taken by a duly authorized Deputy 

Executive Director of the Authority. Any action authorized by this resolution to be taken by a 

Deputy Executive Director of the Authority, may in his or her absence be taken by a duly 

authorized acting Deputy Executive Director of the Authority. 

Section 16. Changes to Titles or Parties. While the titles of and parties to the various 

documents described herein may change, no change to such titles or parties shall affect the 

authority conferred by this resolution to execute, deliver, file (if required), enforce and perform 

the documents in their final form. 

Section 17. Ratification and Confirmation. Any actions of the Authority or its officers 

prior to the date hereof and consistent with the terms of this resolution are ratified and 

confirmed. 

Section 18. Effective Date. This resolution shall be in full force and effect from and 

after its adoption and approval. 



16 

53485453.4 

Section 19. 2017 Note, Omnibus and Supplemental Resolutions to Remain in Effect.  

Resolution No. 5577 of the Authority and Resolution No. 5578 of the Authority (in each case as 

amended by Resolution No. 5585 of the Authority), and Resolution No. 5585 of the Authority, 

shall remain in full force and effect.   

 ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE HOUSING 

AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING AT AN OPEN PUBLIC MEETING THIS 

19TH DAY OF AUGUST, 2019. 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY 

OF KING 

 

 

 

By:        

 DOUGLAS J. BARNES, Chair 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

      

STEPHEN J. NORMAN, Secretary 



CERTIFICATE 

53485453.4 

CERTIFICATE 

 

I, the undersigned, the duly chosen, qualified and acting Secretary and Executive Director 

of the Housing Authority of the County of King (the “Authority”) and keeper of the records of 

the Authority, CERTIFY: 

 

 1. That the attached copy of Resolution No. 5628 (the “Resolution”) is a full, true 

and correct copy of the resolution of the Board of Commissioners of the Authority, as adopted at 

a meeting of the Authority held on August 19, 2019, and duly recorded in the minute books of 

the Authority; 

 

 2. That written notice specifying the time and place of the special meeting and 

noting the business to be transacted was given to all members of the Board of Commissioners by 

mail, fax, electronic mail or personal delivery at least 24 hours prior to the special meeting, a true 

and complete copy of which notice is attached hereto as Appendix I; 

 

 3. That the written notice described above was also posted on the Authority’s 

website and prominently displayed at the main entrance of the Authority’s administrative office 

at 600 Andover Park W., Tukwila, Washington  98188 and at the meeting site, if different, at 

least 24 hours prior to the special meeting; 

 

 4. That the written notice described above was given to each local radio or television 

station and to each newspaper of general circulation that has on file with the Authority a written 

request to be notified of special meetings and to any others to which such notices are customarily 

given by the Authority; and 

 

 5. That such meeting was duly convened and held in all respects in accordance with 

law; that a quorum was present throughout the meeting and a majority of the members of the 

Board of Commissioners of the Authority present at the meeting voted in the proper manner for 

the adoption of the Resolution; that all other requirements and proceedings incident to the proper 

adoption of the Resolution have been duly fulfilled, carried out and otherwise observed, and that 

I am authorized to execute this Certificate. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 19th day of August, 2019. 

 

 

Stephen Norman, Secretary and Executive Director 

of the Authority 



  
53485453.4 

APPENDIX I  

 

 

 

 

 

 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
5 



 
 

To: Board of Commissioners           
  
From: Craig Violante, Director of Finance 
 
Date: July 26, 2019 
 
Re:       2019 Midyear Financial Forecast 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Board adopted the Calendar Year 2019 Operating and Capital Budget (“2019 
budget”) via Resolution 5616 on December 7, 2018.  The Midyear Financial Forecast 
includes revised assumptions and new information that was not part of the original 
budget process and offers updated budget projections.    
 
The 2019 Midyear Financial Forecast includes several adjustments that aggregate to a 
$3.7 million increase in projected unrestricted cash at year’s end.  Higher than 
anticipated revenues in Federal programs drive the bulk of the projected rise in cash, 
primarily from the Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) and Public Housing programs.   
Offsetting the increased revenues is a projected rise in HCV Housing Assistance 
Payments (HAP) beyond original budget expectations.  
 
Exhibit A details the original 2019 Adopted Budget, the Midyear Forecasted Changes 
and the 2019 Revised Projection.  Significant adjustments are explained in the 
Financial Forecast Highlights section.   
 
The Changes to Staffing section discusses newly-planned positions and Exhibit B 
summarizes total positions by department.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2019 Midyear Financial Forecast 
August 19, 2019 Board Meeting 
Page 2 of 7 
 
Background 
 
The Midyear Financial Forecast provides the Board with an overall synopsis of the 
changes in the current and near-term fiscal outlook for KCHA in relation to the 
Authority’s adopted 2019 budget.  Included changes are generally limited to those with 
an aggregate financial impact of $1 million or greater, although those affecting Moving 
to Work (MTW) funds with an aggregate impact of $500,000 or greater are also 
included, as are other adjustments that are deemed material.   
 
Changes to the approved number of employee full-time equivalents (FTEs) are also 
included in this report to the Board, but are not included in the fiscal projection as their 
inclusion would not materially impact the forecast. 
 
 
FINANCIAL FORECAST HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Federal Funding and Expenditures 
 
Revenue 
 
KCHA historically uses conservative estimates when projecting the HCV Replacement 
Funding Inflation Factor (RFIF) and the HUD prorate to derive budgeted Block Grant 
and Special Purpose Voucher (SPV) revenue.  As announced earlier in the year by HUD, 
the RFIF and prorate both exceed assumptions used in the budget.  The 2019 RFIF is 
2.173% versus budget of 1.0%, resulting in additional revenue of $1.66 million.  The 
2019 prorate is 99.5% versus budget of 99.0%, resulting in an additional $724,000. 
 
SPV revenue is based on actual HAP expenditures from the previous year which is then 
inflated by the RFIF. Added to these baseline amounts are revenues related to newly-
awarded “incremental” vouchers.  The midyear forecast reflects an increase of 
$928,000, driven by the inclusion of 43 incremental VASH vouchers that were not 
included in the original 2019 budget and by the 2.173% RFIF.    
 
The midyear forecast also includes a $1.5 million increase in operating and 
administrative fee revenue related to HCV “Ports-In”, clients from other housing 
authorities who have moved into KCHA’s area of service.  This revenue offset by $1.0 
million in associated additional HAP expense.  
 
HUD announced an expected 2019 Public Housing Operating Fund Subsidy prorate of 
99.15%, while the budget assumed 90.0%.  As a result, the midyear forecast includes 
an increase of approximately $920,000.  
  



2019 Midyear Financial Forecast 
August 19, 2019 Board Meeting 
Page 3 of 7 
 
Expenditures 
 
King County continues to experience growing market rents which influences KCHA’s 
HCV average HAP Per Unit Cost (PUC).  In addition, the number of block grant unit 
months for 2019 is projected to be higher than included in the original budget: 
 

 
 
Although the $6.95 increase in average PUC costs is relatively modest, when applied 
to the 104,309 unit months included in the original budget, projected HAP costs 
increase by $728,000.  When applying the revised PUC of $1,114.53 to the projected 
increase of 447 unit months, HAP costs rise by an additional $498,000.  The combined 
effect on block grant HAP is an increase of $1.2 million.    
 
For non-block grant vouchers, Port-in HAP expense is forecast to rise by $1.0 million 
but is offset by a projected $400,000 decline in SPV HAP expense as new incremental 
Family Unification Program (FUP) vouchers are leasing at a slower and more realistic 
page than included in the original budget.   
 
Combined HAP expense for both block grant and SPV vouchers is projected to rise by 
$1.8 million. 
 
 
Acquisitions 
 
The original 2019 budget reflected the purchase and operations of five properties from 
the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers District 751 (IAM). 
The midyear forecast now includes the purchase and operations of only the two 
properties located in Kirkland, as we were able to assign the purchase of the other three 
sites, all of which are located in Seattle, to SHA at closing.  An aggregated midyear 
adjustment of $261,000 removes the acquisition costs and operations budget for the 
other three properties.  Additionally, the original anticipated close date of the IAM 
acquisition was expected to be on April 1st.  However, the close actually took place on 
July 1st and the resulting adjustments are also included in the midyear forecast.   
 
Two large acquisitions of workforce housing in the high-opportunity areas of Bellevue 
and Kirkland are expected to close this September.  Both purchases will initially be 
funded by short-term lines of credit converting to permanent long-term financing in 
early 2020.  Kendall Ridge Apartments (240 units) and Emerson Apartments (207 
units) were purchased for $75 million and $67 million respectively. Both complexes 
will undergo minor improvements funded primarily by tenant revenue streams.  

Original Midyear
Budget Forecast Change

HAP PUC $1,107.58 $1,114.53 $6.95

Unit Months 104,309 104,756 447



2019 Midyear Financial Forecast 
August 19, 2019 Board Meeting 
Page 4 of 7 
 
Acquisition and operating costs were added to the midyear forecast for these two 
properties. 
 
The option to purchase the Howe Property in downtown Redmond was transferred to 
the City of Redmond after a detailed feasibility study showed that it would be too costly 
to develop the site. A significant portion of the option and feasibility study costs were 
covered by King County.   The 2019 authorized budget incorporated $5.5 million to 
facilitate this acquisition. This budget line is eliminated in the midyear forecast. 
 
 
Other Changes 
 
Two capital construction projects for Moving King County Residents Forward 
(MKCRF) properties originally slated to begin in 2020 have been advanced to 2019. 
The incremental costs of these projects is expected to be approximately $1.6 million 
and will be funded by MKCRF operations. The Houghton Apartments project, initially 
scheduled to begin this year, is being delayed to 2020 due to an expansion of the scope 
to add a second floor to one of the buildings.   
 
The 4th Avenue Project to improve infrastructure, signage, lighting and landscaping 
currently undertaken by the Greenbridge department was recently awarded an 
unbudgeted $670,000 grant from the Washington State Department of Commerce.  In 
addition, construction expenditures are expected to be approximately $420,000 less 
than originally anticipated.  As a result, funding from the local Central Office Cost 
Center (COCC) for this project has been reduced by $1.07 million.   
 
See the table below for a summary of changes included in the midyear financial 
forecast: 
 
 



2019 Midyear Financial Forecast 
August 19, 2019 Board Meeting 
Page 5 of 7 
 
EXHIBIT A

KING COUNTY HOUSING AUTHORITY
2019 Midyear Budget Forecast (in thousands of dollars)
(Excludes non-KCHA-managed component units)

2019 TOTAL 2019
Adopted Forecasted Revised
Budget Changes Projection

Beginning Balance, All Cash Reserves $194,616.7 $.0 $194,616.7 (1 )

Revenues
Tenant Revenue $108,485.3 $577.7 $109,063.1
Operating Fund Subsidy from HUD 10,021.4 $920.2 10,941.7
Section 8 Subsidy from HUD 162,937.0 $3,813.3 166,750.3
Other Operating Revenue 76,436.1 $1,565.8 78,002.0

Total Operating Revenues 357,879.9 6,877.1 364,757.0

Expenses
Salaries & Benefits (51,481.3) 262.8 (51,218.4) (2)

Routine Maintenance, Utilities, Taxes & Insurance (26,123.0) 328.2 (25,794.7)
Other Social Service Support Expenses & HAP (193,274.3) (1,779.3) (195,053.6)
Administrative Support Expenses (23,175.7) 258.8 (22,916.9)

Total Operating Expenses (294,054.2) (929.5) (294,983.7)

Operating Net Income 63,825.7 5,947.6 69,773.3

Non-operating Revenue 20,960.4 .0 20,960.4
Non-operating Expenses (29,849.1) (441.1) (30,290.2)

Net Income 54,936.9 5,506.5 60,443.5

Other Sources/(Uses) of Cash
Capital Projects and Acquisitions (192,535.2) (106,083.2) (298,618.4)
Changes in Designated Cash .0 .0 .0
Changes in Restricted Cash .0 .0 .0
Changes in Receivables 13,423.9 .0 13,423.9
Changes in Debt 95,378.8 104,238.5 199,617.3
Changes in Other Liabilities 6,828.7 .0 6,828.7

Total Other Sources/(Uses) of Cash (76,903.8) (1,844.7) (78,748.5)

Transfer In from (Out to) Other Funds
Transfers In from Other Funds 26,805.2 (1,070.3) 25,735.0
Transfers Out to Other Funds (26,805.2) 1,070.3 (25,735.0)

Net Transfer In/(Out) .0 .0 .0

Net Change in Cash (21,966.8) 3,661.8 (18,305.0)

Ending Balance, All Cash Reserves $172,649.8 $3,661.8 $176,311.7

1) Beginning cash balance reflects actual agency cash balances at the beginining of 2019. Budgeted 
beginning cash was slightly lower at $191.0 million.

2) Change in Salaries and Benefits relates to the removal of operating expenses of three IAM properties.

 



2019 Midyear Financial Forecast 
August 19, 2019 Board Meeting 
Page 6 of 7 
 
 
CHANGES TO STAFFING 
 
The financial effects of midyear personnel changes have not been quantified and are 
not included in the fiscal forecast due to materiality.  However, the proposed personnel 
changes are presented here to provide clarity regarding agency staffing needs.   
 

 The Property Management department is adding a new full-time Maintenance 
Mechanic position to support the Energy Performance Contract (EPC) 
improvements that have been installed over the past few years.  The position 
will focus primarily on maintaining ductless heat pumps (DHPs) as warranties 
on the units start to expire. The costs of this position have been factored into the 
long-range cash flow projections of the EPC project. 

 
 The Finance department is adding a full-time Senior Financial Analyst to 

support the 2019 succession planning initiative. Several key positions have 
turned over within the last two years, and more are anticipated in the near 
future. While the role has not been completely defined, this position will support 
training endeavors, provide financial and ratio analysis, and increase capacity 
for additional work related to agency growth and development. It is anticipated 
that over time, this position will fill a key vacated role and will not a permanent 
FTE.   

 
 The Housing Choice Vouchers department is adding a full-time Housing 

Specialist to assist with the workload from the additional vouchers received over 
the past year.  Many of these new vouchers such as Veteran’s Affairs Supporting 
Housing (VASH), non-elderly disabled (NED) and Creating Moves to 
Opportunity (CMTO), require significant staff time to house clients.  During the 
past eighteen months, this work was undertaken by external temporary staff. 

 
 
See the table below for authorized staffing and midyear changes by department.   
 



2019 Midyear Financial Forecast 
August 19, 2019 Board Meeting 
Page 7 of 7 
 
EXHIBIT B     
 

 
 
 

KING COUNTY HOUSING AUTHORITY
2019 Midyear Staffing

2019 
Authorized 

FTEs
Midyear 
Changes

Adjusted 
Authorized  

FTEs

Office of the Executive Director
Office of the Executive Director 5.00              -            5.00                
Social Impact 11.25             -            11.25               
Homeless Housing 4.00              -            4.00                
Communication 2.00              -            2.00                

Development Department
Development 2.50              -            2.50                
Greenbridge 7.00              -            7.00                

Administrative Services
Admin Services 9.00              -            9.00                
Finance 26.00            1.00          27.00              
Human Resources 7.00              -            7.00                
Information Technology 15.00            -            15.00              

Housing Management
Property Management 162.80           1.00          163.80            
Resident Services 34.60            -            34.60              
Housing Choice Vouchers 80.50            1.00          81.50              

Asset Management 23.00            -            23.00              
Construction 20.00            -            20.00              
Weatherization 14.00            -            14.00              

TOTAL 423.65        3.00         426.65          



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
6 



 
TO: Board of Commissioners
 

FROM: Linda Riley, Controller

DATE: July 15, 2019

RE: 2nd Quarter 2019 Summary Write-Offs
 

Total YTD
WRITE-OFFS WRITE-OFFS

Rent Balance Forward to Vacate Month 20,087.37$  45,134.00$       

Retro Rent Write-offs -$            -$                 

VACATE CHARGES:

Rent Delinquent in Vacate Month 2,061.99     7,594.90           

Cleaning & Damages 28,279.70    47,662.82         

Paper Service & Court Costs 3,467.43     3,467.43           

Miscellaneous Charges 16,890.33    16,950.33         

Total Charges 50,699.45    75,675.48         

Total All Charges 70,786.82    120,809.48       

CREDITS:

Security Deposits (2,812.00)    (6,192.00)         

Miscellaneous Payments & Credits (5,109.68)    (9,585.52)         

Total Credits (7,921.68)    (15,777.52)       

Total Net Write-offs 62,865.14$  105,031.96$     

Net Write-offs by Portfolio

KCHA 60,953.49    92,253.12         

Green River -              1,106.67           

Green River II -              -                   

Egis 202.60        5,104.33           

Soosette Creek 1,047.46     5,471.32           

Vantage Point 661.59        1,096.52           

62,865.14$  105,031.96$     

During the second quarter of 2019, tenant accounts totaling $62,865 were deemed 

uncollectable and written off. This represents a 49% increase from the previous quarter. Of the 

19 accounts written off, one former resident accounted for 34% of the total amount written off. 

This account accrued rent charges due to unreported income by the resident of nearly $17,000 

in rent owed. Overall, rent owed to KCHA accounted for $22,149 (35%) of the total and 

cleaning/damage charges accounted for $28,280 (45%) of the total. Security deposits were 

retained to offset 4.5% of the total charges. Per policy, all accounts with a balance owed of 

$100 or more will be forwarded to KCHA's contracted collection agency. $2,450 was 

recovered by the collection agency during the first quarter.



Write-off and Collection Summary

2017 - 2019

2019 2018 2017

January to March 42,166.82        13,801.87        29,410.02        

April to June 62,865.14        110,847.95      28,988.40        

July to September 40,570.09        35,216.21        

October to December 50,945.89        10,606.63        

TOTAL 105,031.96      216,165.80      104,221.26      

2019 2018 2017

January to March 273.57             745.08             3,757.85          

April to June 2,449.81          1,064.10          4,104.25          

July to September 553.34             588.53             

October to December 830.82             4,470.21          

TOTAL 2,723.38          3,193.34          12,920.84        

NET WRITE-OFFS

NET COLLECTIONS

****Detail by tenant is available by request.



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
7 



 
 

To: Board of Commissioners           

  
From: Craig Violante, Director of Finance 
 
Date: August 1, 2019 
 
Re:       New Bank Accounts 

 

Since the last Board meeting KCHA opened 5 new bank accounts.   
 
 
Bank:  Umpqua 
 

 Housing Authority of the County of King  DBA Juanita View Apartments Operating 
Trust  

 Housing Authority of the County of King  DBA Juanita View Apartments Security 
Deposit Trust 

 Housing Authority of the County of King DBA Kirkland Heights Apartment 
Operating Trust 

 Housing Authority of the County of King DBA Kirkland Heights Apartments 
Security Deposit Trust 

 
 

Purpose:  The depository accounts will receive and hold all payments from tenants.  
Periodic transfers will be made from these accounts to pay for operating expenses. 
 
The Security Deposit accounts will hold all security deposits received from tenants. 
Refunds will be issued from the accounts as required.  
 
 

Bank:  Key Bank 
 

 Housing Authority of the County of King Seola Garden Head Start Disposition 
Proceeds 

 
 

Purpose:  This new depository account will be used to hold proceed from sale of the 
Seola Garden Head-Start building.  The account will used to issue wires to Key Bank 
to pay down debt of Northwood Square. 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
8 



   
 

 
T0:  Board of Commissioners 
 
From: John Eliason, Development Director 
 
Date August 13, 2019 
 
Re:  Greenbridge update 
 
 

 
At the August 19th Board of Commissioners meeting, staff will provide an overview of the 
Greenbridge Hope VI redevelopment project as well as an update on the status of the land sales.  
A tour of Greenbridge will be also be provided along with an opportunity to visit to one of the 
model homes. 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
9 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

KCHA IN THE NEWS 

August 19, 2019 

 

 

 



 

A Better Address Can Change a Child’s Future 
A low-cost experiment in Seattle is breaking the cycle of poverty. 

By Nicholas Kristof Opinion Columnist 
Aug. 3, 2019 

 

 
Jackie Rath and her children live in Renton, Wash., a suburb of Seattle.CreditCreditRuth Fremson/The New York 

Times 

 

SEATTLE — Jackie Rath says she was sexually assaulted by four different men, including a stepfather and a 
stepbrother, by the time she was 16. That is also when her mom went to prison for murdering a boyfriend’s 
lover. 

Rath, now 38, was the third generation in her family to endure a traumatized childhood that led to poverty, 
and now she is a single mom with six children of her own who might also be at risk. But she is part of an 
experiment unfolding in and around Seattle that shows immense promise in breaking cycles of poverty so 
that her youngest daughter, Amina, 2, can have the wind at her back. 

https://www.nytimes.com/column/nicholas-kristof
https://www.nytimes.com/column/nicholas-kristof


For all those who think that poverty is hopeless, that nothing can change — read on! The experiment is 
deceptively simple and cheap: It helps families move to neighborhoods with a proven record of helping kids 
do better. A major research study about the experiment, co-written by Prof. Raj Chetty of Harvard, has just 
been published by Opportunity Insights of Harvard. 

Early word of the results has provoked a nationwide stir among Democrats and Republicans alike, and 21 
cities across America are already working to start similar programs. Anti-poverty work is sometimes seen as 
bleak, but these findings are thrilling. 
 

One insight of the study is that although the United States spends $44 billion a year on affordable housing, 
that money perversely concentrates poverty in blighted neighborhoods. The counterproductive result is that 
children are sentenced to grow up in areas rife with crime, teenage pregnancy and educational failure. 

In contrast, with small tweaks, it turns out to be possible to administer housing vouchers so that families like 
Rath’s move to neighborhoods that aren’t more expensive but are where children stand a much better chance 
of thriving. 

In Rath’s new “high-opportunity neighborhood” in Renton, a suburb, a low-income 2-year-old like Amina 
will on average earn $260,000 more over a lifetime than growing up in her old neighborhood, Chetty 
calculates. Such a girl will also be 8 percent less likely to have a baby as a teenager. 

The Seattle program is an outgrowth of a national initiative called Moving to Opportunity, which in the 
1990s provided vouchers for low-income families to move to better neighborhoods. Early evaluations 
suggested it had failed: Adults who received the vouchers didn’t earn more money. 

Then in 2015, a follow-up study shook the policy world. While the moves hadn’t helped the adults, those who 
moved as toddlers were more likely to go to college, to marry, to earn more money and to pay more taxes — 
enough to pay for the program with interest. 
 

Subsequent research has backed this finding: Neighborhood matters enormously, for young children. That’s the 
reason for the focus on Amina: Older siblings will also benefit, but the impact is greatest on those who move 
young and grow up entirely in a high-opportunity neighborhood. 

Chetty has developed an online “Opportunity Atlas” that shows how some neighborhoods around the country, 
without being more expensive, consistently help children get ahead. It’s still unclear what the secret sauce is, 
although it apparently has something to do with decent schools, less poverty, lots of dads present in families 
and positive social norms. 

The problem has been that even when families get housing vouchers, they often move only from one 
troubled neighborhood to another. Is it that struggling families don’t want to move to better neighborhoods 
or can’t? Or is it that small barriers block them? 
 

https://opportunityinsights.org/paper/cmto/
http://www.equality-of-opportunity.org/images/mto_paper.pdf
https://www.nytimes.com/2015/05/05/upshot/why-the-new-research-on-mobility-matters-an-economists-view.html?module=inline
https://www.nytimes.com/2016/03/27/upshot/growing-up-in-a-bad-neighborhood-does-more-harm-than-we-thought.html?module=inline
http://www.equality-of-opportunity.org/images/nbhds_exec_summary.pdf
http://www.opportunityatlas.org/


 
Rath and her youngest daughter, Amina.CreditNicholas Kristof/The New York Times 

 

Seattle’s experiment, called Creating Moves to Opportunity, answered that question. It provides a “housing 
navigator” who helps low-income families receiving vouchers find homes in better neighborhoods, while also 
negotiating with landlords and helping to pay security deposits. 

This assistance costs an average of only $2,600 per household but has had a stunning effect: Families were 
almost four times as likely to use their vouchers to move to a high-opportunity area. 

Because these are inexpensive tweaks to our existing housing voucher program, amounting to just 2.2 
percent of the cost of the underlying voucher, we could easily incorporate these elements and make vouchers 
far more effective at breaking cycles of poverty. 
 

“Economic segregation in America is not a consequence of deep-rooted preferences but rather is driven by 
small barriers in housing search that we can easily address through policy,” Chetty said. “This is a much 
more optimistic view of the world.” 

This research underscores that the common American view that nothing works to address poverty is a 
fallacy. There are no silver bullets, but there is silver buckshot, and moving kids to better neighborhoods is 
one of those pellets.  

We also need early childhood education, job training and much more. But moving from a low- to high-
opportunity neighborhood can, by Chetty’s calculation, close almost one-quarter of the gap in lifetime 
earnings between disadvantaged kids and those who are better off. 

As for Rath, she told me that she was determined to break the cycle of poverty that enmeshed her 
grandmother, her mother and herself. And she thinks her move to a new neighborhood with a history of 
good outcomes will make all the difference for Amina and her other children. 

“Lots of people need a footstool to get ahead,” she said. “That’s what this program is.” 

 

http://creatingmoves.org/














































 

Tech companies step up to fund 
affordable housing, but experts 
say it’s not enough to curb 
shortages 
BY JAKE GOLDSTEIN-STREET on August 7, 2019 at 8:00 am 

 

Microsoft President Brad Smith announces a new $500 million affordable housing fund in January 2019. 

(GeekWire Photo / Monica Nickelsburg)  

Microsoft pledged $500 million for affordable housing in January. Five months later, Google 
said it would invest $1 billion to help the Bay Area housing crisis. Amazon and 
Salesforce also announced contributions of their own this year. 

Major tech companies are stepping up to help mitigate affordable housing shortages, 
caused in part by the influx of high-income labor they have imported to the Seattle and San 
Francisco regions. 

But can that cash truly make a dent when hundreds of thousands of units are needed? 

https://www.geekwire.com/author/jakegoldsteinstreet/
https://www.geekwire.com/2019/microsofts-brad-smith-500m-housing-pledge-want-success-support-region/
https://www.nytimes.com/2019/06/18/technology/google-1-billion-housing-crisis.html
https://www.geekwire.com/2019/support-amazon-new-affordable-housing-fund-allows-everyday-tech-workers-invest/
https://www.fastcompany.com/90342549/salesforces-marc-benioff-launches-30m-research-project-to-end-homelessness


Some experts say that while this is a welcome response, it won’t do nearly as much as 
some hope to generate sufficient housing. 

“If there’s just someone who steps up and says, ‘Hey, I’m a really rich person, I want to give 
$500 million to affordable housing,’ everyone will think it’s great — until you actually do the 
math” said Gregg Colburn, an assistant professor of real estate at the University of 
Washington’s College of Built Environments. 

The math shows that if each unit costs between $250,000 and $350,000, that seemingly 
huge investment would yield less than 2,000 housing units. Microsoft does plan to commit 
$475 million in loans that, once repaid, would be lent out again to support additional 
projects. 

But these corporations simply don’t have the scale necessary to close the wide gap 
between affordable housing needed and that which is currently available, Colburn said. The 
gap is just under 185,000 units in Seattle alone, according to data Microsoft compiled from 
Zillow, the Census, and the Bureau of Labor Statistics. Across the entire Puget Sound 
region, that gap is some 305,000 units. 

Another estimate from a December report by the King County Regional Affordable Housing 
Task Force states that the current need is 156,000 additional affordable homes today, and 
by 2040, the county will need 244,000 units to keep up with population trends. 

“This is not a millions of dollars of problem, it’s a tens of billions of dollars of problem,” 
Colburn said. 

 

Bellweather Housing CEO Susan Boyd announces a new affordable housing fund at the Amazon Spheres. 

(Bellweather Housing Photo)  

The contributions have coincided with more and more pressure on these large 
corporations. Though they have created an economic boom, many feel as though the 
companies have a responsibility to help alleviate affordable housing shortages in the 
communities where they are based. 

“I think everybody is seeing now how the housing crisis is intersected, that it matters that 
there’s not places to live, not just for engineers, but for teachers, and for nurses, and for 
people who work in retail, and for people who grew up here,” said Kevin Zwick, CEO of 
Housing Trust Silicon Valley, which supports affordable housing projects in the tech hub. 

https://news.microsoft.com/affordable-housing/
https://www.kingcounty.gov/~/media/initiatives/affordablehousing/documents/report/RAH-Report-Print-File-7-17-19.ashx?la=en


“When there’s not enough housing for any of those people, then everybody is affected 
negatively.” 

Microsoft partnered with Seattle real estate data company Zillow to study the housing crisis 
in 2018. They discovered that while housing prices soared, new housing construction and 
wages lagged behind. 

To help address those problems, Microsoft is committing $475 million for loans to 
affordable housing developers over three years and another $25 million to services for low-
income and homeless residents. It’s the largest pledge for a social cause in Microsoft’s 
history. 

Microsoft will direct $225 million toward middle-income housing in six cities around its 
Redmond, Wash. headquarters. An additional $250 million will go toward low-income 
housing across the entire King County region. 

Microsoft began accepting applications for its fund in May. The company will consider 
responses to a request for proposals process that meet the following standards: 

 At least 40 percent of units will be designated for middle-income families or 80 
percent of units targeting low-income families 

 Projects must be within a 60-minute commute of Bellevue during peak traffic hours 

 Developers must commit to keeping units affordable for a minimum of 10 years 

 Each project must have at least 100 units 

Microsoft hasn’t detailed how many units the fund will help erect. Brad Smith, the 
company’s president, said in January that he hopes it will help create “tens of thousands of 
units.” 

Zwick said that in the Bay Area, tech giants can have a major positive impact on housing 
because the two keys to success are land and money, which these companies have in 
abundance. 

Google plans to build 20,000 homes in total with its $1 billion contribution, 75 percent of 
which will go toward repurposing company-owned land for affordable housing. The 
remaining $250 million will be used to establish an investment fund aimed at building the 
remaining 5,000 housing units. 

“That’s an exciting place to go if each tech company or employer set a goal of how many 
units of housing they want to help build with their efforts,” said Zwick, whose organization 
says it has invested $183 million to create more than 17,000 affordable housing 
opportunities since 2000. 

https://www.geekwire.com/2019/microsofts-500m-fund-to-start-accepting-applications-for-affordable-housing-projects-that-meet-these-criteria/
https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/homeless/microsoft-pledges-500-million-to-help-develop-affordable-housing-in-seattle-and-on-eastside/


 

Seattle Mayor Jenny Durkan and representatives from community organizations break ground on a new 

housing and resource center in Seattle’s Mt. Baker neighborhood. Vulcan, the company founded by the late 

Paul Allen, donated $30 million to get the project started. (GeekWire Photo / Monica Nickelsburg)  

Arthur Acolin, an assistant professor at the University of Washington’s College of Built 
Environments, said that the public sector would actually be the most effective place to turn 
to get the land necessary to build the hundreds of thousands of units needed across King 
County because restrictive zoning is holding up much-needed development. 

Zillow Director of Economic Research Skylar Olsen noted that the company is keeping its 
eye on the effects of a recent move in Minneapolis to ban single-family zoning. 

“Philanthropy is a great step but affordable housing is a big problem that needs a diverse 
range of solutions and there is no universal template that fits for each community,” Olsen 
said in a statement. “Policies focused on creating more housing in general are beneficial, 
as well as those focused on providing both a supply of and access to affordable housing.” 

Microsoft has recognized this, calling on local governments and the state to update zoning 
and land use to increase density near public transit. It also wants the state to double the 
$100 million Washington State Housing Trust Fund. 

San Francisco-based Salesforce, which recently acquired Seattle data visualization 
company Tableau for $15.7 billion, donated millions to a campaign last year supporting a 
ballot measure that would tax local businesses to fund homelessness programs. 

Salesforce CEO Marc Benioff and his wife Lynne also personally donated $6.1 million last 
year to add 58 housing units in San Francisco. A spokeswoman for the company said it had 
no future Seattle-based investments to announce. 

Colburn said the biggest thing Washington can do to fund housing on the scale necessary 
is to overhaul its tax system, which is considered the most regressive of any state. He 
added that it’s more important for companies to lobby for these changes than to invest 

https://www.commerce.wa.gov/building-infrastructure/housing/housing-trust-fund/
https://www.geekwire.com/2019/salesforce-completes-15-7b-acquisition-tableau-software-creating-new-enterprise-tech-force/
https://www.geekwire.com/2019/salesforce-completes-15-7b-acquisition-tableau-software-creating-new-enterprise-tech-force/
https://www.sfchronicle.com/bayarea/article/Benioff-comes-out-strong-for-homeless-initiative-13291392.php
https://www.sfchronicle.com/bayarea/article/Benioff-comes-out-strong-for-homeless-initiative-13291392.php
https://sfmayor.org/article/mayor-london-breed-joins-salesforce-chairman-and-co-ceo-marc-benioff-and-tenderloin-housing
https://itep.org/new-report-finds-that-upside-down-state-and-local-tax-systems-persist-contributing-to-inequality-in-most-states/


millions, and pointed to public investments in Sound Transit as evidence that this level of 
money can be generated. 

Stephen Norman, executive director of the King County Housing Authority, said that the 
“better route to go” is to build a more progressive tax structure. 

“Clearly, government is under-resourced to step in where the market is failing to provide 
sufficient affordably-priced housing,” he said. 

Norman, whose governmental group could receive loans to build housing from Microsoft, 
wasn’t sure how much the investment could build in total. “I can tell you that it’s probably a 
lot less than people hope,” he noted. 

 

Amazon continues work on new buildings at its headquarters in Seattle. (GeekWire Photo / Kurt Schlosser)  

In contrast to Salesforce, Amazon fought a tax last year that would have raised money from 
the city’s top-grossing companies to fund affordable housing and homeless services. 

But since then, it announced a $5 million donation to Plymouth Housing — Microsoft also 
gave $5 million — and in June lent support to the Building Opportunity Fund, an effort to 
raise $4.5 million in investments to build 750 affordable homes in the Seattle area. The 
company also has a partnership with Mary’s Place, a homeless shelter for women and 
children in Seattle, and has paid millions in fees to Seattle’s affordable housing trust fund. 

Amazon CEO Jeff Bezos separately announced his own $2 billion charitable fund last year 
to go toward nonprofits supporting homeless families. 

“Amazon has been a leader in the effort to address homelessness in Seattle. It’s a priority 
for us to support this issue,” an Amazon spokeswoman said. 

https://www.geekwire.com/tag/head-tax/
https://www.geekwire.com/2019/affordable-housing-campaign-raises-48-8m-microsoft-amazon-ballmers-others-combat-homelessness-seattle-region/
https://www.bellwetherhousing.org/building-opportunity
https://www.geekwire.com/2018/jeff-bezos-unveils-2b-day-one-fund-focusing-homeless-families-preschool-education/


Like King County, the Bay Area has an affordable housing shortage in the hundreds of 
thousands of units, but Zwick said he is optimistic about the role tech titans can play in this 
crisis. 

“None of the efforts — it’s not enough,” Zwick said, also noting that local governments have 
not done their part to approve new housing. “But it’s a start, it’s a new sector coming into 
the space and I think if we could show that it results in real housing, then I would hope this 
isn’t a ceiling to the amount of funding going in, but rather technology companies and other 
employers will continue to try to invest in housing.” 

Microsoft noted as much at the end of a blog post written by Smith and Chief Financial 
Officer Amy Hood at the time of its $500 million investment. 

“Our announcement today is an important start, but it’s just the beginning,” they wrote. “It 
will take years of dedicated work for the region to put this problem behind it. We’ll all need 
to learn and work together to ensure that everyone in our community has not just a roof 
over their head, but a place they can call their home.” 

 

Jake Goldstein-Street is a Seattle-based freelance reporter. He has written for several local publications, 

including the Seattle Times, Capitol Hill Blog, the International Examiner, and the South Seattle 

Emerald. 

 

https://blogs.microsoft.com/on-the-issues/2019/01/16/ensuring-a-healthy-community-the-need-for-affordable-housing/
https://www.geekwire.com/author/jakegoldsteinstreet/


 

Former Redmond mayor 

Doreen Marchione dies at 80 
Marchione served on Redmond City Council as well as Kirkland City Council.  

by Stephanie Quiroz   Monday, July 29, 2019 3:16pm 

 

 
Doreen Marchione at her retirement celebration in 2017. File photo 
 

 

Former Redmond Mayor Doreen Marchione has died at the age of 80. According to the city of Redmond, she 

“passed away peacefully,” on July 27, surrounded by family.  

Marchione was first elected to Redmond City Council in 1975 and served as mayor from 1984-91.  

https://www.redmond-reporter.com/author/stephanie-quiroz/


“Doreen’s commitment to a lifetime of public service always impressed me,” former Redmond city councilmember 

Arnie Tomac said in a city of Redmond press release. “She served on both the Redmond and Kirkland City Council 

and was the mayor of Redmond. She was always striving to make Redmond and Kirkland better and a great place 

to call home. Her support of her family, friends and community was legendary.” 

Marchione served as a Kirkland City Council member for eight years, including two years as deputy mayor.  

“The city of Kirkland was incredibly fortunate to be the beneficiary of Doreen Marchione’s leadership during her 

eight years on the City Council,” Kirkland Mayor Penny Sweet said. “Doreen brought a culture to the council that 

was focused on collaboration, accountability, and collegiality. Her particular legacy to the city is our 

comprehensive ethics policy and our new Human Service Commission. Her impact on our City Council continues 

to have a tremendous influence today. Her dedication to public service, to advocating for those in need, and to 

mentoring future leaders, particularly women, is inspiring. Our community was blessed to benefit from her 

leadership.”  

According to a city of Redmond press release, Marchione was born and raised in Seattle. She graduated from St. 

Edwards, Holy Names Academy and Seattle University. For more than 30 years, Marchione was dedicated to 

public service. During her 15 years as CEO of Hopelink — the largest provider of social services in north and east 

King County — she oversaw a 150 percent increase in the number of residents Hopelink assisted.  

In the city release, Hopelink CEO Lauren Thomas said Marchione was instrumental in developing Hopelink’s 

Avondale Park housing facility. It bears her name today, leaving a legacy that “holds local families in her arms,” 

Thomas said.  

“She was so much more than a great leader. Doreen was a mentor, and a fierce advocate for those in need; a caring, 

passionate woman who wore her heart on her sleeve and lived her commitment to our community every single 

day,” Thomas said in the release. “She will be deeply missed, and her passion will be carried forward through the 

lives of her family, friends, and Hopelink family.”  

Marchione also served on multiple regional boards and committees, including 15 years on the Seattle University 

College of Arts and Sciences Leadership Council, State Transportation Improvement Board, Commissioner of King 

County Housing Authority, president of the Washington State Association of Community Agencies, and board 

member of the Kirkland Performance Center.  

“Doreen was a true force of nature in our region,” said Joan McBride, former Washington state representative for 

the 48th Legislative District, in the release. “Befriending and mentoring countless women on the Eastside, Doreen 

set the example of collegiality and dignity that exemplifies the best in an elected official. May her legacy of 

commitment to the community, zeal for justice, and dedication to the precepts of good government live on.”  

Marchione is mother to current Redmond Mayor John Marchione.  

A funeral mass will be held at 11 a.m. on Aug. 2 at Holy Family Catholic Church in Kirkland. Friends are invited to 

view photos and share memories in the family’s online guest book at www.flintofts.com.  

In lieu of flowers, donations can be made in Doreen’s name to Hopelink or the Kirkland Performance Center.  

Doreen Marchione is survived by her four sons, John, Paul (Grainne), Michael (Christina) and David, and four 

grandchildren, Andrew, Maria, Sofia and Daniel. She is also survived by her significant other, Robert Caldwell and 

her brother, John Foster.  

https://content.govdelivery.com/bulletins/gd/WAREDMOND-2549e83?wgt_ref=WAREDMOND_WIDGET_2
https://www.flintofts.com/obituary/Doreen-Foster-Marchione/Kirkland-WA/1853492










































 

Kent shooting leaves 
2 dead 
POSTED 4:50 PM, JULY 17, 2019, BY ALI BRADLEY AND Q13 NEWS STAFF  

 

KENT, Wash. -- A man and woman are dead after a shooting in Kent 
Wednesday afternoon, according to police. 

The shooting happened around 1:45 p.m. at an apartment in the city’s East 
Hill neighborhood. Officers found both victims with gunshot wounds and a 
gun in the man’s hand. 

Investigators say no one else was involved in the shooting and there is no 
threat to the area. 

The identities of the victims have not been released. 

Officers are in the area collecting evidence and trying to figure out what led 
up to the shooting. 

 

https://q13fox.com/author/aliq13/
https://q13fox.com/author/q13-fox-news-staff/


 

Two Dead in Murder-Suicide at King 

County Housing Project in Kent 

  

 by Jacob Kimerer 
 

A male and female are dead after an apparent murder-suicide at a busy King County Housing 
Authority property. 

Kent, WA: *Statement from Kent Police* 

At approximately 1:45PM, Kent Patrol Units responded to the 23400 block of 104th Ave SE for 
the reports of a shooting incident. 

Kent Patrol officers arrived in the area and contact was made with an adult female 
lying on the ground and an adult male lying nearby with a gun in his hand. Both 
sustained gunshot wounds. The female, a Kent resident, was non responsive, and life 
saving efforts were performed, however she succumbed to her injuries at the scene. 
The male, also a Kent resident, was also non responsive and life saving efforts were 
performed. However, the male was pronounced dead at the scene as well. 

At this time we believe there are no others involved in this incident. Investigators are 
still gathering information from witnesses are collecting evidence from the scene. 
They are working to clarify the events that led to this shooting incident 

 

 
 

https://newsmaven.io/keynewsnetwork/user/@Evergreen_Media/


 

Greenbridge Health Fair will offer 
free services June 28 

 

The Greenbridge Health Fair is set for June 28 from 4pm to 7pm at Greenbridge Plaza 
near White Center. 

Free Health Services 
• Blood Pressure Checks 

• Blood Glucose Test 
• Fitness Resources 
• Healthy Eating Demos 

• Kids Activities ...and much more! 

Free Resources to help keep families safe and drug-free! 

There will also be FREE 

Healthy food, Prizes, Entertainment, Kid Activities and Giveaways! 

 



For More Information 

Tracie Friedman (KCHA): 206‐574‐1161 Mike Graham‐Squire (NH): 206‐353‐7945 

 

Greenbridge Health Fair 

Friday, June 28, 2019 - 4PM to 7PM 

Greenbridge Plaza, 8th Ave SW & SW 99th Street 
Sponsors: 

King County Housing Authority, Washington State Dept. of Licensing, ID2020, Seattle 
Dept. of Transportation, 

Coalition for Drug Free Youth, Neighborhood House,  

Partners:  

Community Health Plan of Washington, King County Department of Community and 
Human Services,  

Participating Agencies:  

APICAT, American Lung Association, Amerigroup, Boys and Girls Club, City of Seattle, 
Community Health Plan of Washington, Environmental Coalition of South Seattle, Fire 
Department, Impact Public Schools, Hepatitis Education Project, ICHS, King County 
Library, King County Parks and Recreation, Northwest Kidney Centers, Navos, 
Neighborhood House, Swedish Hospital, White Center CDA, White Center Food Bank, 
White Center Kiwanis, White Center/North Highline Coalition for Drug-Free Youth, 
Within Reach, YWCA Greenbridge. 

 


	KCHA in the News Aug 2019.pdf
	2 June 26 2019 - Westside Seattle - Greenbridge Health Fair will offer free services June 28.pdf
	Free Health Services
	Greenbridge Health Fair
	Friday, June 28, 2019 - 4PM to 7PM
	Greenbridge Plaza, 8th Ave SW & SW 99th Street
	Sponsors:



	KCHA IN THE NEWS AUG 19 2019.pdf
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	10 June 26 2019 - Westside Seattle - Greenbridge Health Fair will offer free services June 28.pdf
	Free Health Services
	Greenbridge Health Fair
	Friday, June 28, 2019 - 4PM to 7PM
	Greenbridge Plaza, 8th Ave SW & SW 99th Street
	Sponsors:


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	14 June 26 2019 - Westside Seattle - Greenbridge Health Fair will offer free services June 28.pdf
	Free Health Services
	Greenbridge Health Fair
	Friday, June 28, 2019 - 4PM to 7PM
	Greenbridge Plaza, 8th Ave SW & SW 99th Street
	Sponsors:






